### University of Nebraska - Lincoln DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research

Agronomy and Horticulture, Department of

8-2021

### Evaluating Evapotranspiration and Management of Glyphosate-Resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri* S. Watson)

Jasmine Mausbach University of Nebraska-Lincoln

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss

Part of the Agricultural Science Commons, Agriculture Commons, Agronomy and Crop Sciences Commons, Botany Commons, Horticulture Commons, Other Plant Sciences Commons, and the Plant Biology Commons

Mausbach, Jasmine, "Evaluating Evapotranspiration and Management of Glyphosate-Resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri* S. Watson)" (2021). *Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research.* 222. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronhortdiss/222

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Agronomy and Horticulture, Department of at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in Department of Agronomy and Horticulture: Dissertations, Theses, and Student Research by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

## EVALUATING EVAPOTRANSPIRATION AND MANAGEMENT OF GLYPHOSATE-RESISTANT PALMER AMARANTH (*AMARANTHUS PALMERI* S. WATSON)

by

Jasmine M. Mausbach

#### A THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of

The Graduate College at the University of Nebraska

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Major: Agronomy

Under the Supervision of Professors Amit J. Jhala and Suat Irmak

Lincoln, Nebraska

August, 2021

## EVALUATING EVAPOTRANSPIRATION AND MANAGEMENT OF GLYPHOSATE-RESISTANT PALMER AMARANTH (*AMARANTHUS PALMERI* S. WATSON)

Jasmine Mausbach, M.S.

University of Nebraska, 2021

Advisors: Amit J. Jhala, Suat Irmak

Palmer amaranth (PA) is the most problematic weed in agronomic cropping systems in the United States. Acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitor-/glyphosate-resistant (GR) PA has been confirmed in Nebraska and is widespread in several counties. Soybean resistant to isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate has been developed to provide additional herbicide sites of action for control of herbicide-resistant weeds. The objectives of this study were to evaluate herbicide programs for control of ALS inhibitor/GR PA and their effect on PA density and biomass, as well as soybean injury and yield in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean. A PRE herbicide fb glufosinate controlled PA 80%–99% 21 d after late-POST in 2018 and reduced density 89%–100% in 2019 at 14 d after early-POST.

Weed-crop competition models offer a significant tool for understanding and predicting crop yield losses due to crop-weed interference. Within current empirical models, weed biological characteristics are unknown, which limits understanding of weed growth in competition with crops and how that competition affects crop growth parameters. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation on the average evapotranspiration ( $ET_a$ ) of PA grown in corn, soybean, and fallow in south central Nebraska. Results suggest irrigation affects subplot  $ET_a$  differences early in the growing season, but crop system and progression of plant growth with available water have a greater effect on  $ET_a$  differences than irrigation type later in the growing season. Thus, crop management will likely have greater effects on PA  $ET_a$  values than irrigation practices alone. This study provides base data on weed evapotranspiration and its relation to weed morphological features for future use in mechanistic weed-crop competition models.

Velvetleaf is another troublesome broadleaf weed that competes with agronomic crops for resources such as soil moisture. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of degree of water stress on the growth and fecundity of velvetleaf using soil moisture sensors under greenhouse conditions. The results of this study demonstrate that velvetleaf can survive  $\geq$  50% field capacity (FC) continuous water stress conditions, although with reduced leaf number, plant height, and growth index compared to 75% and 100% FC.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisors Dr. Amit Jhala and Dr. Suat Irmak who have provided me with guidance and support throughout my degree program. Their continued belief in me and my ability as a researcher has brought me to where I am today. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members, Dr. Debalin Sarangi and Dr. John Lindquist for the helpful input they have provided. Additionally, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Parminder Chahal, Dr. Meetpal Kukal, and M.S. Kelsey Karnik for their significant contributions they provided in the statistical analysis of this research.

I would like to thank Irvin Schleufer, Mike Schlick, Matthew Drudik, and the summer student workers at the South Central Agricultural Laboratory for their assistance maintaining research plots, spraying herbicides, and helping with soil moisture sensor installation. I would like to extend a special thanks to the undergraduate students Adam Leise and Jared Stander who assisted along the way. Likewise, I would like to recognize the invaluable assistance from my fellow lab members Adam Striegel, Dr. Ethann Barnes, Jose de Sanctis, Mandeep Singh, Shawn McDonald, Trey Stephens, and Will Neels.

Finally, I want to thank my close friends Alicia Reil, Amy Hauver, Ramandeep Kaur, and Susan Straka, my parents Amanda McCary and Jeremy Mausbach, and my younger sister Alexis Mausbach for their encouragement and moral support throughout this endeavor.

List of Tables	5
List of Figures	7
Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES	9
Introduction	9
Palmer amaranth	9
Velvetleaf	10
Herbicide Resistance	11
LibertyLink GT27 <sup>TM</sup> Soybean	13
Weed and Crop Water Demand	13
Objectives	16
Literature Cited	17
Chapter 2: CONTROL OF ACETOLACTATE SYNTHASE	
INHIBITOR/GLYPHOSATE-RESISTANT PALMER AMARANTH (AM	MARANTHUS
PALMERI) IN ISOXAFLUTOLE/GLUFOSINATE/GLYPHOSATE-RES	SISTANT
SOYBEAN	25
Abstract	25
Introduction	26
Materials and Methods	27
Field Experiments	27
Data Collection	28
Statistical Analysis	29
Results and Discussion	29

### **Table of Contents**

Temperature and Precipitation
Palmer amaranth Control
Palmer amaranth Density and Biomass
Soybean Yield
Practical Implications
Literature Cited
Chapter 3: EVAPOTRANSPIRATION OF PALMER AMARANTH (AMARANTHUS
PALMERI S. WATSON) IN CORN, SOYBEAN, AND FALLOW UNDER
SUBSURFACE DRIP AND CENTER-PIVOT IRRIGATION SYSTEMS44
Abstract44
Introduction45
Materials and Methods46
Plant Materials46
Experimental Design and Crop Management47
Measurement of Soil Water Status and Irrigation Management48
Seasonal Actual Evapotranspiration Using Soil-Water Balance49
Growth Index, Plant Biomass, and Total Leaf Area Measurements51
Statistical Analysis
Results and Discussion
Total Soil Water54
Scaled Actual Evapotranspiration55
Growth Index, Plant Biomass, and Total Leaf Area56
Practical Implications

Literature Cited	60
Chapter 4: EFFECT OF DEGREE OF WATER STRESS ON GROWTH AND	
FECUNDITY OF VELVETLEAF (ABUTILON THEOPHRASTI) USING SOIL	
MOISTURE SENSORS	81
Abstract	81
Introduction	82
Materials and Methods	84
Plant Materials	84
Soil Water Content	85
Data Collection	86
Statistical Analysis	87
Results and Discussion	88
Leaf Number	88
Plant Height	89
Plant Growth Index	90
Plant Stem and Root Biomass	91
Total Leaf Area	92
Seed Production	92
Seed Germination	93
Practical Implications	93
Literature Cited	96

#### **List of Tables**

**Table 2-1.** Monthly mean air temperature and total precipitation during the 2018 and 2019 growing seasons (March to October), along with the 30-yr average at the research site near Carleton, Nebraska.

**Table 2-2.** Herbicides, application timings, and rates used for control of acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitor and glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean in field experiments conducted near Carleton, Nebraska in 2018 and 2019.

**Table 2-3.** Effect of herbicide programs on acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitor- and glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth control in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean 21 d after PRE (DAPRE), 14 d after early-POST (DAEPOST), and 28 d after late-POST (DALPOST) herbicide application in field experiments conducted near Carleton, Nebraska in 2018 and 2019.

**Table 2-4.** Effect of herbicide programs on glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth density reduction and biomass reduction and isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean yield in field experiments conducted near Carleton, Nebraska in 2018 and 2019.

**Table 3-1.** Center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation date and amount in the 2019 and 2020 growing seasons at South Central Agricultural Laboratory in Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-2.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  Palmer amaranth main effects and interactions for total soil water in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-3.** Least squares means T grouping for total soil water by crop system under center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-4.** Type I tests of fixed effects for the irrigation type  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  day main effects and interactions in the reduced models for actual evapotranspiration in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-5.** Least squares means T grouping for actual evapotranspiration by irrigation type and day in 2019 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-6.** Actual evapotranspiration simple effect comparisons of crop system with and without Palmer amaranth by day in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-7.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  sampling date main effects and interactions for Palmer amaranth growth index in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-8.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  sampling date main effects and interactions for Palmer amaranth biomass in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-9.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  sampling date main effects and interactions for Palmer amaranth total leaf area in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Table 4-1.** Parameter estimates and test of lack of fit at 95% level for the three-parameter log-logistic function fit to velvetleaf leaves per plant, plant height, and growth index under differing degrees of water stress at 84 d after treatment (DAT) in a greenhouse study at University of Nebraska-Lincoln.

**Table 4-2.** Effect of degree of water stress on velvetleaf biomass, seed production, and seed germination at 84 d after treatment (DAT) in a greenhouse study at University of Nebraska-Lincoln using soil moisture sensors.

#### **List of Figures**

**Figure 3-1.** Daily rainfall in the (A) 2019 and (B) 2020 growing seasons at South Central Agricultural Laboratory near Clay Center, NE

**Figure 3-2.** Average total soil water results of crop systems under (A) center-pivot and (B) subsurface drip in 2019 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-3.** Average total soil water results of crop systems under (A) center-pivot and (B) subsurface drip in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-4.** Actual evapotranspiration by crop system and irrigation type in (A) 2019 and (B) 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-5.** Least squares means plots of actual evapotranspiration by irrigation from day 1 to day 98 after sensor installation in 2019 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-6.** Cumulative evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow systems under center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-7.** Mean interaction plots for Palmer amaranth growth index by crop type and sampling date in (A) center-pivot plots in 2019, (B) subsurface drip plots in 2019, (C) center-pivot plots in 2020, and (D) subsurface drip plots in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-8.** Mean interaction plots for 2019 Palmer amaranth biomass by (A) sampling date and crop type and (B) sampling date and irrigation type in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 3-9.** Mean interaction plots for Palmer amaranth total leaf area by crop type and sampling date in (A) center-pivot plots in 2019, (B) subsurface drip plots in 2019, (C) center-pivot plots in 2020, and (D) subsurface drip plots in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

**Figure 4-1.** Soil moisture content in pots was measured using (A) Decagon 5TM moisture sensors and (B) Em50 data loggers to determine degree of water stress on velvetleaf in a greenhouse study conducted at the University of Nebraska–Lincoln.

**Figure 4-2.** Effect of degree of water stress on (A) leaves per plant, (B) plant height, and (C) growth index of velvetleaf after 84 DAT during both years. 100%, 75%, 50%, and 25% field capacity (FC) treatments correspond to no-, light-, moderate-, and high-water stress, respectively. Only one velvetleaf plant maintained at 25% FC survived more than 77 DAT during both years, and the three-parameter log-logistic model did not provide a good fit for leaves per plant, plant height, or growth index; therefore, curves are presented for 25% FC, although only for visual sake.

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES**

#### Introduction

**Palmer amaranth.** Palmer amaranth is a summer annual broadleaf weed belonging to the Amaranthaceae family and is one of the dioecious species among pigweeds (Steckel 2007). Human activities in the 20th century such as agricultural development, within- and between-field operations, and seed and equipment transportation have led Palmer amaranth to spread to the northern United States (Costea et al. 2004; 2005; Culpepper 2006). Since the first report of Palmer amaranth beyond its native habitat in the southwest United States, it has become one of the most problematic and troublesome weeds in agronomic cropping systems in the United States (Culpepper et al. 2010; Ward et al. 2013). A multistate growers' survey conducted in 2005–2006 reported that pigweeds were one of the three most problematic weeds in glyphosate-resistant corn (Zea mays L.) and soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merr.] production fields in the Midwest (Kruger et al. 2009). A statewide survey of Nebraska stakeholders in 2015 found that Palmer amaranth ranked fourth out of the top five most difficult to control weeds in the Panhandle and West Central Nebraska (Sarangi and Jhala 2018). More recently, a statewide survey of Nebraska stakeholders found that Palmer amaranth was considered the most difficult to control in corn and soybean cropping systems.

Several factors have enabled Palmer amaranth to become such a dominant and difficult-to-control weed, including its rapid growth rate (Ehleringer and Forseth 1980; Ehleringer 1985), prolific seed production (Keeley et al. 1987; Massinga et al. 2001), and ability to tolerate adverse environmental conditions, including disease, genetic

abnormalities (Franssen et al. 2001), and water stress (Chahal et al. 2018). Horak and Loughin (2000) reported that Palmer amaranth had the highest plant dry weight, leaf area, water-use efficiency, and growth rate (0.10-0.21 cm per growing degree day) compared to redroot pigweed (Amaranthus retroflexus L.), tumble pigweed (Amaranthus albus L.), and waterhemp [Amaranthus tuberculatus (Moq.) Sauer] in a two-year field study in Kansas. Palmer amaranth also has greater root length and root biomass compared with most crops, allowing it to occupy a larger soil volume and obtain soil nutrients (Wright et al. 1999). As a dioecious species, Palmer amaranth is an obligate outcrossing, wild pollinated species (Sosnoskie et al. 2012), resulting in wide genetic diversity that can lead to the spread of herbicide-resistant alleles (Jhala et al. 2021; Oliveira et al. 2018). Due to its prolific seed production, aggressive growth habit, and ability to evolve resistance to commonly used herbicides, it is vital to control Palmer amaranth early in the growing season by integrating mechanical, cultural, and chemical practices, including PRE herbicides with multiple sites of action (de Sanctis et al. 2021; Norsworthy et al. 2012). Velvetleaf. Velvetleaf (Abutilon theophrasti) is regarded as a troublesome broadleaf weed (Spencer 1984), causing grain yield losses in fields of corn (Zea mays L.), soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merr.], sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench], and cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) (Behrens 1979; Colton and Einhellig 1980; Eaton et al. 1976; Hagood et al. 1980; Higgins et al. 1984; Oliver 1979; Spencer 1984; USDA 1970). A multistate growers' survey conducted in 2005–2006 reported velvetleaf as one of the three most problematic weeds in GR corn and soybean cropping systems in the Midwest (Kruger et al. 2009). A statewide survey of Nebraska stakeholders in 2015 found that

velvetleaf ranked the fourth most difficult to control weed in corn and soybean production fields (Sarangi and Jhala 2018).

Velvetleaf possesses a number of characteristics that contribute to its success as a weed, including rapid root growth and the ability to produce sugars at a relatively efficient rate in low sunlight, allowing growth under partially shaded crop canopies (Roeth 1987). Velvetleaf produces 700–17,000 seeds plant<sup>-1</sup> that have high viability and can persist in the soil up to 50 years (Anderson et al. 1985; Chandler and Dale 1974; Khedir and Roeth 1981). In addition, velvetleaf has a sporadic and continuous germination pattern (Burnside et al. 1981; Roeth 1987); robust seedling vigor (Hartgerink and Bazzaz 1984); allelopathic effects (Bhowmik and Doll 1982; Colton and Einhellig 1980; Elmore 1980; Gressel and Holm 1964; Sterling 1987a, 1987b); is a host to several crop pests and pathogens (Hepperley et al. 1980; Jacques and Peters 1971); and has reduced susceptibility to some herbicides used in corn and soybean production (Jhala et al. 2021), such as dicamba (de Sanctis and Jhala 2021).

**Herbicide Resistance.** Globally, glyphosate is the most widely used agricultural pesticide and is used extensively in glyphosate-resistant (GR) canola (*Brassica napus* L.), corn (*Zea mays* L.), cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.), sugarbeet (*Beta vulgaris var. saccharifera*), and soybean in the United States (Heap and Duke 2018). Since the commercialization of GR crops, particularly GR corn and soybean in the midwestern United States and GR cotton in the southern United States, continuous use of glyphosate multiple times in a year, along with a decline in the use of residual herbicides (Culpepper 2006; Young 2006), has resulted in the evolution of GR weeds (Beckie 2006). As of 2020, 50 weeds have been confirmed resistant to glyphosate worldwide (Heap 2021),

including six broadleaf weeds such as common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisiifolia* L.), giant ragweed (*Ambrosia trifida* L.), kochia [*Bassia scoparia* (L.) A. J. Scott], horseweed (*Erigeron canadensis* L.), waterhemp, and Palmer amaranth in Nebraska (Jhala 2017a). Palmer amaranth resistant to glyphosate was first confirmed in Georgia in 2004 (Culpepper et al. 2006). Since then, GR Palmer amaranth has been confirmed in 28 states in the United States (Heap 2021; Heap and Duke 2018). Palmer amaranth resistant to ALS inhibitors was first confirmed in Kansas in 1994 and since then has been confirmed in 14 states in the United States (Heap 2021; Sprague et al. 1997). Palmer amaranth resistant to glufosinate, another commonly used herbicide, was recently confirmed in Arkansas (Barber et al. 2021).

Palmer amaranth has evolved resistance to herbicides from at least eight herbicide sites of action: microtubule-, acetolactate synthase (ALS)-, 5-enolpyruvyl-shikimate-3phosphate synthase (EPSPS)-, photosystem (PS) II, hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase (HPPD)-, very long chain fatty acid (VLCFA)-, protoporphyrinogen oxidase (PPO)-, and synthetic auxin inhibitors (Heap 2021). In Nebraska, Palmer amaranth biotypes with multiple herbicide-resistance to HPPD- and PS II-inhibitors, as well as EPSPS- and PS IIinhibitors were confirmed in 2014 and 2016, respectively (Chahal et al. 2017; Jhala et al. 2014). In Kansas, a population of PA resistant to five herbicide sites of action including synthetic auxin-, EPSPS-, ALS-, PS II-, and HPPD-inhibitors was confirmed (Kumar et al. 2019). Herbicide-resistant Palmer amaranth reduces herbicide options for growers and can cause major crop yield losses if not controlled early in the growing season. Annually, weeds cause an estimated loss of more than US\$100 billion and a 10% yield loss on a global scale (Appleby et al. 2000). In light of these losses, it is clear that a greater understanding of crop-weed interactions is necessary to develop cost-effective and sustainable weed management practices.

LibertyLink GT27<sup>TM</sup> Soybean. In order to address the growing need to control GR weeds in cropping systems, multiple-herbicide-resistant soybean traits have been developed. The recently available isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean (LibertyLink GT27<sup>TM</sup>) provides an opportunity to use isoxaflutole applied PRE alone or in mixture with other residual herbicides for early-season weed control. It also provides an opportunity to use glufosinate as a contact, POST herbicide for control of emerged broadleaf and grass weeds (Jhala et al. 2017). Norsworthy et al. (2008) reported 99% control of GR Palmer amaranth with glufosinate. Wiesbrook et al. (2001) found that glufosinate in sequential applications improved control of broadleaf weeds over a single application. Glufosinate applied early-POST (EPOST) resulted in 73% Palmer amaranth control compared to 76% control with glufosinate applied EPOST and late-POST (LOST) (Hoffner et al. 2012).Glufosinate applied EPOST resulted in 71% control and a sequential LPOST application provided 76% control of GR waterhemp in glufosinateresistant soybean in Nebraska (Jhala et al. 2017). An additional option for POST control of GR Palmer amaranth in glufosinate-resistant soybean is glufosinate mixed with residual herbicides such as acetochlor, pyroxasulfone, or S-metolachlor (Aulakh and Jhala 2015). This mixture provides foliar and residual control of Palmer amaranth through overlapping residual activity.

Weed and Crop Water Demands. Weed species compete with crops for a variety of environmental resources, including water, which is one of the most limiting factors for optimum crop production (Benjamin and Nielsen 2006). Weed-crop competition models

offer a significant tool for understanding and predicting crop yield losses due to cropweed interference. However, within these models, weed biological characteristics are unknown, limiting our understanding of weed growth in competition with crops and how that competition affects crop growth parameters. In terms of weed-crop competition, two main principles are apparent: (1) the first plant to occupy a given area has an advantage over later emerging plants, and (2) more aggressive plant species typically dominate in an intermixed community of weeds and crops (Singh et al. 2020). In general, weed species with similar growth patterns to crops are more competitive than weeds with a dissimilar growth pattern. Conversely, the competitive ability of crops depends on many factors, such as (1) crop type and cultivar or variety selection, sowing date, row spacing and tillage practices; (2) weed density and composition; (3) soil and climatic factors; and (4) crop rotation (Singh et al. 2020). The time and method of irrigation may also impact weed-crop competition as weeds are also benefitted during irrigation. As the inherent ability of crops to compete against weeds is weakened by climatic and soil stresses (Mohler 2004), various farm management practices, including irrigation, can be adjusted in such a way to hinder weed growth.

Nebraska growers lead the U.S. in irrigated acres at ~10 million acres [4.1 million ha], with roughly half a million irrigated acres added each year (USDA 2019). Sprinkler systems, particularly center pivot irrigation (CPI) systems, represent ~80% of Nebraska's irrigation, while gravity and drip systems represent ~20% and 0.05%, respectively (USDA 2010). In CPI and gravity irrigation systems, a certain portion of water withdrawn is returned as surface water or groundwater, although much is consumed by evapotranspiration (ET). In comparison to CPI systems, ET from drip systems like

subsurface drip irrigation (SDI) has been shown to be 10% lower in certain areas. The reduction in ET of SDI systems translates to additional water for transpiration, potentially resulting in increased crop yield and weed biomass if competitive weeds are present (Odhiambo and Irmak 2015). Developing irrigation management strategies based on available soil water requires knowledge of weed and crop response to water deficit, which can be obtained through modeling (Paredes et al. 2014), relating biomass production to ET. The effects of crop ET rates on crop yield are well known – the challenge is determining the effect of weed ET on weed morphological features (i.e., biomass, leaf area index, plant height).

#### **Objectives**

- Evaluate herbicide programs for control of ALS inhibitor/GR Palmer amaranth and their effect on Palmer amaranth density and biomass, as well as soybean injury and yield in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean.
- Determine the effect of center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation on the average evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth grown in corn, soybean, and fallow in south central Nebraska.
- Determine the effect of degree of water stress on the growth and fecundity of velvetleaf using soil moisture sensors under greenhouse conditions.

#### **Literature Cited**

- Anderson RN, Menges RM, Conn JS (1985) Variability in velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) and reproduction beyond its current range in North America. Weed Sci 33:507–512
- Appleby AP, Muller F, Carpy S (2000) Weed control. Pages 687–707 *in* Muller F, ed. Agrochemicals. New York: Wiley
- Aulakh JS, Jhala AJ (2015) Comparison of glufosinate-based herbicide programs for broad-spectrum weed control in glufosinate-resistant soybean. Weed Technol 29:419–430
- Barber T, Norsworthy J, Butts T (2021) Arkansas Palmer amaranth found resistant to field rates of glufosinate. <u>https://arkansascrops.uaex.edu/posts/weeds/palmer-amaranth.aspx</u> Accessed: June 7, 2021
- Beckie HJ (2006) Herbicide-resistant weeds: management tactics and practices. Weed Technol 20:793–814
- Behrens R (1979) Weed control is U.S. maize. Pages 38–45 *in* Hafliger E, ed. Maize. Basle: Switzerland
- Benjamin JG, Nielsen DC (2006) Water deficit effects on root distribution of soybean, field pea and chickpea. Field Crops Res 97:248–253
- Bhowmik PC, Doll JD (1982) Corn and soybean response to allelopathic effects of weed and crop residues. Agron J 74:601–606
- Burnside OC, Fenster CR, Evetts LL, Muvom RF (1981) Germination of exhumed weed seed in Nebraska. Weed Sci 29:577–586

- Chahal PS, Irmak S, Jugulam M, Jhala AJ (2018) Evaluating effect of degree of water stress on growth and fecundity of Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) using soil moisture sensors. Weed Sci 66:738–745
- Chahal PS, Varanasi VK, Jugulam M, Jhala AJ (2017) Glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) in Nebraska: confirmation, EPSPS gene amplification, and response to POST corn and soybean herbicides. Weed Technol 31:80–93
- Chandler JM, Dale JE (1974) Comparative growth of four Malvaceae species. Pages 116–117 *in* Proceedings of the 27<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting. Atlanta, GA: Southern Weed Science Society
- Colton CE, Einhellig FA (1980) Allelopathic mechanisms of velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti* Medic., Malvaceae) on soybean. Am J Bot 67:1407–1413
- Costea M, Weaver SE, Tardif FJ (2004) The biology of Canadian weeds. 130. *Amaranthus retroflexus* L., *A. powellii* S. Watson and *A. hybridus* L. Can J Plant Sci 84:631–668
- Costea M, Weaver SE, Tardif FJ (2005) The biology of invasive alien plants in Canada.
  3. Amaranthus tuberculatus (Moq.) Sauer var. rudis (Sauer). Can J Plant Sci 85:507–522

Culpepper AS (2006) Glyphosate-induced weed shifts. Weed Technol 20:277–281

Culpepper AS, Grey TL, Vencill WK, Kichler JM, Webster TM, Brown SM, York AC, Davis JW, Hanna WW (2006) Glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) confirmed in Georgia. Weed Sci 54:620–626

- Culpepper AS, Webster TM, Sosnoskie LM, York A (2010) Glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth in the United States. Pages 195–212 *in* Nandula VK, ed. Glyphosate
   Resistance: Evolution, Mechanisms, and Management. Hoboken: John Wiley
- de Sanctis JH, Barnes ER, Knezevic SZ, Kumar V, Jhala AJ (2021) Residual herbicides affect critical time of Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) removal in soybean. Agron J 113:1920–1933
- de Sanctis JH, Jhala AJ (2021) Interaction of dicamba, fluthiacet-methyl, and glyphosate for control of velvetleaf in dicamba/glyphosate-resistant soybean. Weed Technol DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/wet.2021.40</u>
- Eaton BJ, Russ OG, Feltner KC (1976) Competition of velvetleaf, prickly sida, and venice mallow in soybeans. Weed Sci 24:224–228
- Ehleringer J (1985) Annuals and perennials of warm deserts. Page 162–180 *in* Chabot
  BF, Mooney HA, eds. Physiological Ecology of North American Plant
  Communities. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands
- Ehleringer J, Forseth I (1980) Solar tracking by plants. Science 210:1094–1098
- Elmore CD (1980) Inhibition of turnip (*Brassica rapa*) seed germination by velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) seed. Weed Sci 28:658–660
- Franssen AS, Skinner DZ, Al-Khatib K, Horak MJ, Kulakow PA (2001) Interspecific hybridization and gene flow of ALS resistance in *Amaranthus* species. Weed Sci 49:598–606
- Gressel JG, Holm LG (1964) Chemical inhibition of crop germination by weed seeds and the nature of inhibition by *Abutilon theophrasti*. Weed Res 4:44–53

- Hagood ES Jr, Bauman TT, Williams TL Jr, Schreiber MM (1980) Growth analysis of soybean (*Glycine max*) in competition with velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*). Weed Sci 28:729–734
- Hartgerink AP, Bazzaz FA (1984) Seedling-scale environmental heterogeneity influences individual fitness and population structure. Ecology 65:198–206

Heap I (2021) The international herbicide-resistant weed database.
<u>http://www.weedscience.org/Pages/MOA.aspx?MOAID=12</u>. Accessed: April 03, 2021

- Heap I, Duke SO (2018) Overview of glyphosate-resistant weeds worldwide. Pest Manag Sci 74:1040–1049
- Hepperley PR, Kirkpatrick BL, Sinclair JB (1980) *Abutilon theophrasti*; wild host for three fungal parasites of soybean. Phytopathology 70:307–310
- Higgins RA, Pedigo LP, Staniforth DW (1984) Effect of velvetleaf competition and defoliation simulating a green cloverworm (*Lepidoptera: Noctuidae*) outbreak in Iowa on indeterminate soybean yield, yield components and economic decision levels. Environ Entomol 13:917–925
- Hoffner AE, Jordan DL, Chandi A, York AC, Dunphy EJ, Everman WJ (2012) Management of Palmer Amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) in glufosinate-resistant soybean (*Glycine max*) with sequential applications of herbicides. ISRN Agron 2012:1–7
- Horak MJ, Loughin TM (2000) Growth analysis of four *Amaranthus* species. Weed Sci 48:347–355

- Jacques RL Jr, Peters DC (1971) Biology of *Systema frontalis*, with special reference to corn. J Econ Entomol 64:135–138
- Jhala AJ (2017a) Status of herbicide-resistant weeds in Nebraska. CropWatch, University of Nebraska–Lincoln. <u>https://cropwatch.unl.edu/2017/status-herbicide-resistant-</u> weeds-nebraska. Accessed: November 5, 2020
- Jhala AJ, Norsworthy JK, Ganie ZA, Sosnoskie LM, Beckie HJ, Mallory-Smith CA, Liu J, Wei W, Wang J, Stoltenberg DE (2021) Pollen-mediated gene flow and transfer of resistance alleles from herbicide-resistant broadleaf weeds. Weed Technol 35:173–187
- Jhala AJ, Sandell SD, Rana N, Kruger G, Knezevic SZ (2014) Confirmation and control of triazine and 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase-inhibiting herbicide-resistant Palmer amaranth in Nebraska. Weed Technol 28:28–38
- Jhala AJ, Sandell LD, Sarangi D, Kruger GR, Knezevic SZ (2017) Control of glyphosateresistant common waterhemp (*Amaranthus rudis*) in glufosinate-resistant soybean. Weed Technol 31:32–45
- Keeley PE, Carter CH, Thullen RJ (1987) Influence of planting date on growth of Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*). Weed Sci 35:199–204
- Khedir KD, Roeth FW (1981) Velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) seed populations in six continuous-corn (*Zea mays*) fields. Weed Sci 29:485–490
- Kruger GR, Johnson WG, Weller SC, Owen MDK, Shaw DR, Wilcut JW, Jordan DL, Wilson RG, Bernards ML, Young BG (2009) US growers views on problematic weeds and changes in weed pressure in glyphosate-resistant corn, cotton, and soybean cropping systems. Weed Technol 23:162–166

- Kumar V, Liu R, Boyer G, Stahlman PW (2019) Confirmation of 2,4-D resistance and identification of multiple resistance in a Kansas Palmer amaranth population. Pest Manag Sci 75:2925–2933
- Massinga RA, Currie RS, Horak MJ, Boyer J (2001) Interference of Palmer amaranth in corn. Weed Sci 49:202–208
- Mohler CL (2004) Enhancing the competitive ability of crops. Pages 269–321 *in* Liebman M, Mohler CL, Staver CP, eds. Ecological management of agricultural weeds. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Norsworthy JK, Griffith GM, Scott RC, Smith KL, Oliver LR (2008) Confirmation and control of glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) in Arkansas. Weed Technol 22:108–113
- Norsworthy JK, Ward SM, Shaw DR, Llewellyn RS, Nichols RL, Webster TM, Bradley KW, Frisvold G, Powles SB, Burgos NR, Witt WW, Barrett M (2012) Reducing the risks of herbicide resistance: best management practices and recommendations. Weed Sci 60:31–62
- Odhiambo LO, Irmak S (2015) Surface energy balance, evapotranspiration, and surface coefficients during non-growing season in a maize-soybean cropping system. Biological Systems Engineering: Papers and Publications. 447 p
- Oliver LR (1979) Influence of soybean planting date on velvetleaf competition. Weed Sci 27:183–188
- Oliveira MC, Gaines TA, Patterson E, Jhala AJ, Irmak S, Keenan A, Knezevic SZ (2018) Interspecific and intraspecific metabolism-based herbicide resistance transfer in dioecious weedy *Amaranthus*. The Plant J 96:1051–1063

Paredes P, Rodrigues GC, Alves I, Pereira LS (2014) Partitioning evapotranspiration, yield prediction and economic returns of maize under various irrigation management strategies. Agr Water Manage 135:27–39

Roeth FW (1987) Velvetleaf - coming on strong. Crops Soils 39:10-11

- Sarangi D, Jhala AJ (2018) A statewide survey of stakeholders to assess the problem weeds and weed management practices in Nebraska. Weed Technol 32:642–655
- Singh M, Kaur S, Chauhan BS (2020) Weed interference models. Pages 117–142 *in* Chantre G, Gonzalez-Andujar J, eds. Decision Support Systems for Weed Management. Switzerland: Springer
- Sosnoskie LM, Webster TM, Kichler JM, MacRae AW, Grey TL, Culpepper AS (2012) Pollen-mediated dispersal of glyphosate-resistance in Palmer amaranth under field conditions. Weed Sci 60:366–373
- Spencer NR (1984) Velvetleaf, *Abutilon theophrasti* (Malvaceae), history and economic impact in the United States. Econ Bot 38:407–416
- Sprague CL, Stoller EW, Wax LM, Horak MJ (1997) Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) and common waterhemp (*Amaranthus rudis*) resistance to selected ALS-inhibiting herbicides. Weed Sci 45:192–197
- Steckel LE (2007) The dioecious *Amaranthus* spp.: here to stay. Weed Technol 21:567– 570
- Sterling TM, Putnam AR (1987a) Possible role of glandular trichome exudates in interference by velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*). Weed Sci 35:308–314
- Sterling TM, Houtz RL, Putman AR (1987b) Phytotoxic exudates from velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) glandular trichomes. Am J Bot 74:543–550

- [USDA] US Department of Agriculture (1970) Selected weeds of the United States. Agriculture Handbook 366. U.S. Agricultural Research Service. 260 p
- USDA-NASS (2019) 2017 Census of Agriculture: 2018 Irrigation and Water Management Survey. Washington, DC: USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service, p 6
- USDA-NASS (2010) 2007 Census of Agriculture: Farm and Ranch Irrigation Survey (2008). Washington, DC: USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service, p 8
- Vieira BC, Samuelson SL, Alves GS, Gaines TA, Werle R, Kruger GR (2018)
  Distribution of glyphosate-resistant *Amaranthus* spp. in Nebraska. Pest Manag Sci 74:2316–2324
- Ward S, Webster TM, Steckel LE (2013) Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*): A review. Weed Technol 27:12–27
- Wiesbrook ML, Johnson WG, Hart SE, Bradley PR, Wax LM (2001) Comparison of weed management systems in narrow-row, glyphosate- and glufosinate-resistant soybean (*Glycine max*). Weed Technol 15:122–128
- Wright SR, Jennette MW, Coble HD, Rufty TW Jr (1999) Root morphology of young *Glycine max, Senna obtusifolia*, and *Amaranthus palmeri*. Weed Sci 47:706–711
- Young BG (2006) Changes in herbicide use patterns and production practices resulting from glyphosate-resistant crops. Weed Technol 20:301–307

#### **CHAPTER 2:**

# CONTROL OF ACETOLACTATE SYNTHASE INHIBITOR/GLYPHOSATE-RESISTANT PALMER AMARANTH (*AMARANTHUS PALMERI*) IN ISOXAFLUTOLE/GLUFOSINATE/GLYPHOSATE-RESISTANT SOYBEAN Mausbach JM, Irmak S, Sarangi D, Lindquist J, Jhala AJ (2021) Control of acetolactate synthase inhibitor/glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean. Weed Technology (In press)

#### Abstract

Palmer amaranth is the most problematic and troublesome weed in agronomic cropping systems in the United States. Acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitor- and glyphosateresistant (GR) Palmer amaranth has been confirmed in Nebraska and it is widespread in several counties. Soybean resistant to isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate has been developed to provide additional herbicide sites of action for control of herbicide-resistant weeds. The objectives of this study were to evaluate herbicide programs for control of ALS inhibitor/GR Palmer amaranth and their effect on Palmer amaranth density and biomass, as well as soybean injury and yield in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosateresistant soybean. Field experiments were conducted in 2018 and 2019 in a grower's field infested with ALS inhibitor/GR Palmer amaranth near Carleton, Nebraska. Isoxaflutole applied alone or mixed with sulfentrazone/pyroxasulfone, flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone, or imazethapyr/saflufenacil/pyroxasulfone provided similar control (86%–99%) of Palmer amaranth 21 d after PRE (DAPRE). At 14 d after early-POST (DAEPOST), isoxaflutole applied PRE and PRE followed by (fb) POST controlled Palmer amaranth 10% and 63%, respectively. Glufosinate applied EPOST provided 75%–96% control with in both years. A PRE herbicide fb glufosinate controlled Palmer amaranth 80%–99% 21 d after late-POST (DALPOST) in 2018 and reduced density 89%–100% in 2018 and 58%–100% in 2019 at 14 DAEPOST. No soybean injury was observed from any of the herbicide programs tested in this study. Soybean yield in 2019 was relatively higher due to higher precipitation compared with 2018 with generally no differences between herbicide programs. This research indicates that herbicide programs are available for effective control of ALS inhibitor/GR Palmer amaranth in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosateresistant soybean.

#### Introduction

ALS inhibitor- and/or GR Palmer amaranth has been observed in several corn/soybean production fields in south-central and west-central Nebraska, in addition to alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.), corn, and sugarbeet fields in western Nebraska (Vieira et al. 2018). To address the growing need to control GR weeds in cropping systems, multipleherbicide-resistant soybean traits have been developed. For example, isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean has been developed to provide additional herbicide sites of action for control of herbicide-resistant weeds, primarily GR weeds; however, herbicide programs need to be developed and tested that provide season-long control of GR Palmer amaranth in this multiple herbicide-resistant soybean. The objectives of this research were to: (1) evaluate isoxaflutole- and glufosinate-based herbicide programs for control of ALS inhibitor/GR Palmer amaranth in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean, and (2) evaluate the effect of herbicide programs on Palmer amaranth density and biomass, as well as soybean injury and grain yield.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Field Experiments.** Field experiments were conducted in 2018 and 2019 in a grower's field near Carleton, NE (40.30°N, 97.67°W). The field had a GR corn-soybean rotation with reliance on glyphosate for weed control in a no-till production system for the last 10 years and confirmed to have an ALS inhibitor/GR Palmer amaranth population (Chahal et al. 2017) [(multiple herbicide-resistant (MHR) Palmer amaranth here after]. The soil at the experimental site was silt loam (montmorillonitic, mesic, Pachic Argiustolls) with a pH of 6.0 and 19% sand, 63% silt, 18% clay, and 2.6% organic matter content. Winter annual weeds were controlled with glyphosate at 900 g ae ha<sup>-1</sup>, 2,4-D ester at 560 g ae ha<sup>-1</sup>, and liquid ammonium sulfate at 3% v/v two weeks prior to establishing an experiment. A soybean cultivar resistant to isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate was planted in a no-till seedbed at 345,800 seeds ha<sup>-1</sup> in rows spaced 76 cm apart. Soybean was planted on May 10 in 2018 and May 6 in 2019. Individual experimental plot dimensions were 3 m wide by 9 m long. The experimental site was in a rainfed environment with no supplemental irrigation. The precipitation received during both growing seasons are listed (Table 2-1).

Treatments were arranged in a randomized complete block design with four replications. Herbicide programs evaluated to control MHR Palmer amaranth consisted of PRE, EPOST, LPOST, and PRE fb POST herbicide programs (Table 2-2). A nontreated control was included for comparison. Herbicides were applied with a handheld CO<sub>2</sub>-pressurized backpack sprayer equipped with AIXR 110015 flat fan nozzles (TeeJet<sup>®</sup>

Technologies, Spraying Systems Co., P.O. Box 7900, Wheaton, IL) calibrated to deliver a 140 L ha<sup>-1</sup> flow rate at 276 kPa at a constant speed of 4.8 km h<sup>-1</sup>. Glufosinate was mixed with liquid ammonium sulfate at 3% v/v (Anonymous 2017) and was applied with XR 11005 flat fan nozzles (TeeJet<sup>®</sup> Technologies, Spraying Systems Co., P.O. Box 7900, Wheaton, IL). The PRE herbicides were applied after soybean planting on the same day (i.e., May 10) in 2018, and four d after soybean planting (i.e., May 10) in 2019. The EPOST herbicides were applied 31 d after PRE (DAPRE) herbicides were applied. Palmer amaranth was 1–8 cm tall depending on herbicide program. Soybean was at the first to second trifoliate (V1-V2 growth stage). The LPOST herbicides were applied 20-22 DAEPOST herbicide applications. Palmer amaranth was 8–25 cm tall depending on the herbicide program. Palmer amaranth plant height was variable because new plants had emerged and some plants had been partially controlled by the EPOST herbicide. Data Collection. Palmer amaranth control was assessed visually at 21 DAPRE, 14 DAEPOST, and 14 and 28 DALPOST herbicide applications on a scale of 0%–100% (0% indicating no control of Palmer amaranth and 100% indicating complete control). Palmer amaranth densities were recorded 21 DAPRE, 14 DAEPOST, 14 DALPOST, and 28 DALPOST by counting the number of Palmer amaranth plants in one 0.5 m<sup>2</sup> quadrat placed randomly between two center soybean rows in each plot. Soybean injury was assessed visually at 14 DAPRE, 14 DAEPOST, 14 and 28 DALPOST herbicide applications based on a scale of 0%–100% (0% indicating no soybean injury and 100% indicating complete plant death). Palmer amaranth plants counted during density ratings were clipped at the soil surface, placed into paper bags, and placed in an oven at 65°C until they reached a constant weight. Aboveground biomass was converted into percent

biomass reduction and was compared with the nontreated control using the following equation (Wortman 2014):

% Biomass reduction = 
$$\left[\frac{\overline{c}-B}{\overline{c}}\right] * 100$$

where  $\overline{C}$  is the biomass of the nontreated control and *B* is the biomass of an individual treatment plot. Soybean was harvested from the center two rows in each plot using a plot combine. Grain yield was adjusted to 13% moisture content and converted into kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. **Statistical Analysis.** Data were subjected to ANOVA using the PROC MIXED procedure in SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC). Data were tested for normality with the use of PROC UNIVARIATE. Palmer amaranth control, density, and biomass data were arcsine square-root transformed before analysis; however, back-transformed data are presented with the mean separation based on the transformed data. Year and herbicide treatments were considered fixed effects, while replication was considered a random effect in the model. If year-by-treatment interaction was non-significant, data from both years were combined. However, if the year-by-treatment interaction was significant, data were analyzed separately by year. Where the ANOVA indicated treatment effects were significant, means were separated at  $P \le 0.05$  using Tukey Kramer's pairwise comparison test.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Year-by-treatment interaction for MHR Palmer amaranth control 21 DAPRE was not significant (P > 0.05); therefore, data were combined for both years. Palmer amaranth control estimates 14 DAEPOST and 28 DALPOST, Palmer amaranth density, and soybean yield were significant ( $P \le 0.05$ ); therefore, data were presented separately for both years. No soybean injury was observed from any herbicide program (data not shown), indicating that the herbicides evaluated in this study are safe to use in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean when applied according to label instructions. Schultz et al. (2015) also reported that isoxaflutole is safe to use in isoxaflutole-resistant soybean.

**Temperature and Precipitation.** The 2018 growing season started off warmer than average, with temperatures of 20.6°C and 25.0°C for May and June, respectively, compared with 14.8°C and 21.8°C in 2019 (Table 2-1). Monthly precipitation varied from the 30-yr average of 135 mm in May and 115 mm in June in both years. Below-average precipitation occurred in 2018, with 78 and 96 mm in May and June, respectively, while above-average precipitation was observed throughout the 2019 growing season (Table 2-1).

Palmer amaranth Control. The PRE herbicides evaluated in this study controlled MHR Palmer amaranth 86%–99% 21 DAPRE (Table 2-3). Although similar to other PRE herbicide spray timings, pyroxasulfone/sulfentrazone, flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone, and imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil controlled Palmer amaranth 97%–99%. The contribution of the ALS-inhibiting herbicide (i.e., imazethapyr) was minimal; rather, the VLCFA-inhibitor (i.e., pyroxasulfone) and PPO-inhibitor (i.e., saflufenacil) primarily contributed to the control. Shyam et al. (2021) reported similar findings 14 DAPRE with imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil, where Palmer amaranth control ranged from 87%–97% in a two yr study in 2,4-D choline/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean. Sarangi and Jhala (2019) reported at least 98% Palmer amaranth control 14 and 28 DAPRE with imazethapyr/dimethenamid-P/saflufenacil and flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone. Isoxaflutole applied PRE controlled Palmer amaranth 86%–89% 21 DAPRE (Table 2-3); however, variable control of Palmer amaranth has been reported with isoxaflutole in the literature. Meyer et al. (2016) and Johnson et al. (2012) reported at least 87% Palmer amaranth control with isoxaflutole 28 DAPRE. In contrast, Spaunhorst and Johnson (2016) reported 57%–70% GR Palmer amaranth control 21 DAPRE. Greater control with isoxaflutole occurred in a higher rainfall year, indicating the importance of moisture for herbicide activation (Spaunhorst and Johnson 2016). Isoxaflutole requires 12.7–25.4 mm of irrigation or rain to activate, although too much water can cause the herbicide to become diluted and leach, reducing efficacy (Jhala 2017b). If moisture is adequate, isoxaflutole can provide 14–21 d of residual activity for Palmer amaranth control (Chahal et al. 2015).

Palmer amaranth control varied between years with PRE fb EPOST herbicide programs (Table 2-3). As an EPOST application, glufosinate applied alone controlled MHR Palmer amaranth 95%–96% in 2018 and 75% in 2019. Glufosinate mixed with isoxaflutole controlled Palmer amaranth 92%–95% in 2018 and 85%–94% in 2019 (Table 2-3). Shyam et al. (2021) reported 88% Palmer amaranth control 14 DAEPOST with glufosinate. Conversely, Chahal and Jhala (2015) found that glufosinate in single and sequential applications provided 53%–76% and 56%–77% waterhemp control, respectively. Sequential glyphosate applications provided no control of MHR Palmer amaranth in this study, indicating that the population is highly resistant to glyphosate (Table 2-3). Chahal et al. (2017) reported 37- to 40-fold level of glyphosate resistance in MHR Palmer amaranth at this research site; therefore, no control with glyphosate was expected.

At 28 DALPOST, isoxaflutole applied PRE or in sequential applications (PRE fb EPOST) controlled MHR Palmer amaranth 10% and 53% in 2018, respectively, while providing no control in 2019 (Table 2-3). This indicates isoxaflutole applied alone at 105 g ai ha<sup>-1</sup> will not provide effective control later in the growing season and that mixture with other herbicide(s) is needed to achieve economically acceptable control. In this study isoxaflutole was applied at 105 g ai  $ha^{-1}$ ; however, it can be applied in a range of 140–210 g ai ha<sup>-1</sup> in a single application with a season maximum of 210 g ai ha<sup>-1</sup> (Anonymous 2020). Relatively lower rate of use in this study is because the study was conducted before isoxaflutole was label approved in 2020. In addition, isoxaflutole is primarily a residual herbicide with limited foliar activity; therefore, effective control of emerged Palmer amaranth at the time of application should not be expected. Janak and Grichar (2016) reported similar findings of 51% Palmer amaranth control with a single application of isoxaflutole 101 DAPRE. When mixed with metribuzin, isoxaflutole has been shown to provide 97%–98% control of redroot pigweed (*Amaranthus retroflexus*) and Powell amaranth (Amaranthus powellii) (Smith et al. 2019). With the exception of isoxaflutole, PRE fb POST herbicide programs provided 80%-99% MHR Palmer amaranth control in 2018 and 76%–99% control in 2019 at 28 DALPOST (Table 2-3). Whitaker et al. (2010) reported greater than 80% late-season control of GR Palmer amaranth with a PRE application of flumioxazin/S-metolachlor fb fomesafen; however, less than 30% late-season control was achieved with flumioxazin/S-metolachlor without a POST application of fomesafen. A single herbicide application is less likely to provide
season-long control of Palmer amaranth – a PRE followed by a POST herbicide program is required for effective Palmer amaranth control and reducing Palmer amaranth seedbank (Norsworthy et al. 2012).

Palmer amaranth Density and Biomass. Palmer amaranth density and biomass were affected by herbicide programs (Table 2-4). At 14 DAEPOST isoxaflutole reduced MHR Palmer amaranth density 0% in 2018 and 48% in 2019, while PRE fb EPOST applications of isoxaflutole reduced density 49% in 2018 and 53% in 2019. Similarly, Meyer et al. (2016) reported 62% Palmer amaranth density reduction with isoxaflutole applied PRE. Meyer et al. (2015) reported 78%–93% Palmer amaranth density reduction with flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone in soybean in a multi-year, multi-state study, while Sarangi et al. (2017) reported 91% and 98% density reduction of GR waterhemp with flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone and imazethapyr/dimethenamid-P/saflufenacil, respectively.

PRE herbicides fb glufosinate reduced MHR Palmer amaranth density at least 85% in 2018 and 2019. Similar findings were reported by Shyam et al. (2021) and Norsworthy et al. (2016). EPOST applications of glufosinate reduced MHR Palmer amaranth density 89% in 2018 and 58% in 2019, while glufosinate mixed with isoxaflutole reduced Palmer amaranth density 63%–100% in 2018 and 85%–94% in 2019 (Table 2-4). Chahal and Jhala (2015) reported 50% density reduction of waterhemp with an EPOST application of glufosinate and 83% density reduction of waterhemp with EPOST fb LPOST applications of glufosinate 45 DALPOST in glufosinate-resistant soybean in Nebraska.

At 14 DALPOST in 2019, PRE herbicide(s) fb glufosinate applied EPOST reduced MHR Palmer amaranth biomass 49%–97% compared to 95% biomass reduction with PRE herbicide fb EPOST and LPOST applications of glufosinate (Table 2-4). Aulakh and Jhala (2015) reported 79%–88% weed biomass reduction with PRE applications of dimethenamid-P/saflufenacil, or imazethapyr/sulfentrazone fb glufosinate. Shyam et al. (2021) reported 100% Palmer amaranth biomass reduction with imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil fb glufosinate and 99% biomass reduction with EPOST fb LPOST applications of glufosinate in 2,4-D choline/glufosinate/glyphosateresistant soybean. Single or sequential applications of isoxaflutole resulted in no biomass reduction due to poor Palmer amaranth control (Table 2-4). Chahal and Jhala (2015) reported 80%–91% biomass reduction with a single POST application of glufosinate and 92%–95% biomass reduction with sequential POST applications of glufosinate in glufosinate-resistant soybean. Overall, a PRE herbicide with multiple sites of action fb glufosinate has consistently provided > 90% Palmer amaranth control and > 90% Palmer amaranth density and biomass reduction in most studies.

**Soybean Yield.** Year-by-treatment interaction was significant ( $P \le 0.05$ ); therefore, yield data are presented separately for both years (Table 2-4). Soybean yield in 2019 was higher compared to 2018 due to higher precipitation in 2019 that provided sufficient moisture for soybean growth and development (Table 2-1). Isoxaflutole mixed with pyroxasulfone/sulfentrazone applied PRE fb glufosinate resulted in the highest soybean grain yield of 2,294 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> in 2018, which was comparable with several herbicide programs (Table 2-4). In 2019, several herbicide programs resulted in similar soybean yield in the range of 3,139–4,227 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Table 2-4). Shyam et al. (2021) reported soybean yields with similar PRE herbicides used in combination with glufosinate.

# **Practical Implications**

A new soybean trait resistant to isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate has been commercially available since the 2019 growing season in the United States. Results of this study suggest that herbicide programs are available for effective control of MHR Palmer amaranth in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean. No soybean injury was observed with any of the herbicide programs evaluated in this study, including isoxaflutole applied in sequential applications. Isoxaflutole (Alite<sup>TM</sup> 27) was registered in 2020 for application in isoxaflutole-resistant soybean; however, use of this herbicide is limited to certain counties in a few states. For example, isoxaflutole (Alite<sup>™</sup> 27) is labeled for application in only four southwest counties (Chase, Dundy, Hitchcock, and Red Willow) in Nebraska (Anonymous 2020). In addition, isoxaflutole cannot be applied on coarse-textured soils (e.g., sandy, sandy loam, loamy sand) with less than 1.5% organic matter content, limiting the use of this herbicide. The majority of soybean in Nebraska is grown in the eastern region, so while growers can plant isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean in this region, they cannot use isoxaflutole (Alite<sup>™</sup> 27) due to label restrictions (Anonymous 2020). Therefore, adoption of soybean resistant to isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate in Nebraska will likely be very limited.

## **Literature Cited**

- Anonymous (2017) Liberty herbicide product label. EPA Reg. No. 264-829. Research Triangle Park, NC: Bayer Crop Science 29 p
- Anonymous (2020) Alite<sup>™</sup> 27 herbicide product label. EPA Reg. No. 7969-433. Research Triangle Park, NC: BASF. 18 p
- Aulakh JS, Jhala AJ (2015) Comparison of glufosinate-based herbicide programs for broad-spectrum weed control in glufosinate-resistant soybean. Weed Technol 29:419–430
- Chahal PS, Jhala AJ (2015) Herbicide programs for control of glyphosate-resistant volunteer corn in glufosinate-resistant soybean. Weed Technol 29:431–443
- Chahal PS, Aulakh JS, Jugulam M, Jhala AJ (2015) Herbicide-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri* S. Wats.) in the United States — mechanisms of resistance, impact, and management. In Price AJ, JA Kelton, L Sarunaite (eds) Pages 1–40 in Herbicides, Agronomic Crops and Weed Biology. London: InTechOpen
- Chahal PS, Varanasi VK, Jugulam M, Jhala AJ (2017) Glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) in Nebraska: confirmation, EPSPS gene amplification, and response to POST corn and soybean herbicides. Weed Technol 31:80–93
- Janak TW, Grichar WJ (2016) Weed control in corn (*Zea mays* L.) as influenced by preemergence herbicides. International Journal of Agronomy 2016:1–9
- Jhala AJ (2017b) Effect of excessive rainfall on efficacy of residual herbicides applied in corn and soybean. CropWatch, University of Nebraska–Lincoln.

https://cropwatch.unl.edu/2017/effect-excessive-rainfall-efficacy-residualherbicides-applied-corn-and-soybean. Accessed: September 3, 2020

- Johnson WG, Chahal GS, Regehr DL (2012) Efficacy of various corn herbicides applied preplant incorporated and preemergence. Weed Technol 26:220–229
- Meyer CJ, Norsworthy JK, Young BG, Steckel LE, Bradley KW, Johnson WG, Loux MM, Davis VM, Kruger GR, Bararpour MT, Ikley JT, Spaunhorst DJ, Butts TR (2015) Herbicide program approaches for managing glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) and waterhemp (*Amaranthus tuberculatus* and *Amaranthus rudis*) in future soybean-trait technologies. Weed Technol 29:716–729
- Meyer CJ, Norsworthy JK, Young BG, Steckel LE, Bradley KW, Johnson WG, Loux MM, Davis VM, Kruger GR, Bararpour MT, Ikley JT, Spaunhorst DJ, Butts TR (2016) Early-season Palmer amaranth and waterhemp control from preemergence programs utilizing 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase–inhibiting and auxinic herbicides in soybean. Weed Technol 30:67–75
- [NOAA] National Ocean and Atmospheric Administration (2019) NOWData-NOAA Online Weather Data. https://w2.weather.gov/climate/xmacis.php?wfo=gid. Accessed January 2, 2020
- Norsworthy JK, Korres NE, Walsh MJ, Powles SB (2016) Integrating herbicide programs with harvest weed seed control and other fall management practices for the control of glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*). Weed Sci 64:540– 550
- Norsworthy JK, Ward SM, Shaw DR, Llewellyn RS, Nichols RL, Webster TM, Bradley KW, Frisvold G, Powles SB, Burgos NR, Witt WW, Barrett M (2012) Reducing the

risks of herbicide resistance: best management practices and recommendations. Weed Sci 60:31–62

- Sarangi D, Jhala, AJ (2019) Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) and velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) control in no-tillage conventional (non–genetically engineered) soybean using overlapping residual herbicide programs. Weed Technol 33:95–105
- Sarangi D, Sandell LD, Kruger GR, Knezevic SZ, Irmak S, Jhala AJ (2017) Comparison of herbicide programs for season-long control of glyphosate-resistant common waterhemp (*Amaranthus rudis*) in soybean. Weed Technol 31:53–66
- Schultz JL, Weber M, Allen J, Bradley KW (2015) Evaluation of weed management programs and response of FG72 soybean to HPPD-inhibiting herbicides. Weed Technol 29:653–664
- Shyam C, Chahal PS, Jhala AJ, Jugulam M (2021) Management of glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) in 2,4-D choline, glufosinate, and glyphosate-resistant soybean. Weed Technol 35:136–143
- Smith A, Soltani N, Kaastra AJ, Hooker DC, Robinson DE, Sikkema PH (2019) Annual weed management in isoxaflutole-resistant soybean using a two-pass weed control strategy. Weed Technol 33:411–425
- Spaunhorst DJ, Johnson WG (2016) Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) control with preplant herbicide programs containing dicamba, isoxaflutole, and 2,4-D. Crop Forage Turfgrass Manag 2:1–7

- Vieira BC, Samuelson SL, Alves GS, Gaines TA, Werle R, Kruger GR (2018) Distribution of glyphosate-resistant *Amaranthus* spp. in Nebraska. Pest Manag Sci 74:2316–2324
- Whitaker JR, York AC, Jordan DL, Culpepper AS (2010) Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) control in soybean with glyphosate and conventional herbicide systems.
   Weed Technol 24:403–410
- Wortman SE (2014) Integrating weed and vegetable crop management with multifunctional air-propelled abrasive grits. Weed Technol 28:243–252

**Table 2-1.** Monthly mean air temperature and total precipitation during the 2018 and

 2019 growing seasons (March to October), along with the 30-yr average at the research

 site near Carleton, Nebraska.<sup>a</sup>

Month	Me	Mean air temperature (°C)			otal precipitat	ion (mm)
	2018	2019	30-yr average	2018	2019	30-yr average
March	4.5	1.1	4.6	23.6	85.6	45.2
April	5.9	11.8	10.6	26.4	16.0	66.3
May	20.6	14.6	16.4	78.0	172.7	135.4
June	25.0	21.8	22.3	96.0	153.2	115.1
July	24.7	25.1	24.9	95.5	137.2	105.2
August	23.3	23.1	23.7	92.2	154.9	94.0
September	20.6	22.6	19.1	153.4	120.4	66.0
October	10.6	9.6	12.1	99.8	118.1	58.4

<sup>a</sup>Data were obtained from National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA 2019).

icia experiments contancien nes	CONTRACT CHICAGE INC. INC.	AT NEED OT AT THE BA	1/1
Trade name	Application	Rate	Manufacturer
Mite 37	DDE	(g ac ui al 11a) 105	DACE Commission
Allie 27	FRE	C01	DASF Corporation
Alite 27 fb	PRE fb	105	BASF Corporation
Alite 27	early POST	105	BASF Corporation
iberty	Early POST	657	BASF Corporation
iberty fb	Early POST fb	657	BASF Corporation
Liberty	late POST	657	BASF Corporation
Alite 27 fb	PRE fb	105	BASF Corporation
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
Authority Supreme fb	PRE fb	292	FMC Corporation
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
Authority Supreme + Alite 27 fb	PRE fb	292 +105	FMC Corporation + BASF Corporation
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
ierce fb	PRE fb	160	Valent
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
ierce + Alite 27 fb	PRE fb	160 + 105	Valent + BASF Corporation
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
Cidua PRO fb	PRE fb	215	BASF Corporation
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
Cidua PRO + Alite 27 fb	PRE fb	215 + 105	BASF Corporation
Liberty	early POST	657	BASF Corporation
Alite 27 + Liberty	Early POST	105 + 657	BASF Corporation
Alite 27 fb	PRE fb	105	BASF Corporation
Liberty fb	early POST fb	657	BASF Corporation
Liberty	late POST	657	BASF Corporation
Alite 27 + Liberty fb	Early POST fb	105 + 657	BASF Corporation
Alite 27 + Liberty	late POST	105 + 657	BASF Corporation
coundup PowerMAX fb	Early POST fb	1,260	Bayer CropScience
Roundup PowerMAX	late POST	1,260	Bayer CropScience
hemicals North America Inc., .	Augusta, GA) at 4.7	2 kg ha <sup>-1</sup> .	
	Trade name         lite 27         lite 27         Alite 27         abite 27         blerty         Liberty         Liberty         Liberty         blerty         blerty      blerty        blet 27 + Lib	Trade nameApplicationlite 27PRElite 27PRE fblite 27PRE fbAlite 27PRE fbadite 27Early POSTbertyEarly POSTbertyE	Trade nameApplicationRatefile 27PRE105file 27PRE105file 27PRE105Alite 27Early POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyEarly POST657ibertyPRE292LibertyPRE657uthority Supreme fbearly POST657ibertyEarly POST657uthority Supreme fbearly POST657ibertyearly POST657

nth in ů, /AT C) inhihit ÷ 4 • ÷ þ e ¢ Ż

41

Table 2-3. Effect of herbicide programs on acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitor- and glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth control in isoxaflutole/glufosinate/glyphosate-resistant soybean 21 d after PRE (DAPRE), 14 d after early-POST (DAEPOST), and 28 d after late-POST (DALPOST)

Herbicide program	Application timing	Rate		Palme	r amaranth cor	trold	
)	:		21 DAPRE <sup>€</sup>	14 DAI	EPOST	28 DAI	POST
		g ae or ai ha <sup>-1</sup>			%		
			2018/2019	2018	2019	2018	2019
Isoxaflutole	PRE	105	89 a	41 c	38 c	10 d	0 e
Isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	105	86 a	63 b	10 d	53 c	0 e
isoxaflutole	early POST	105					
Glufosinate	Early POST	657	a,	95 a	75 b	80 ab	36 cd
Glufosinate fb	Early POST fb	657	a,	96 a	75 b	99 a	85 ab
glufosinate	late POST	657					
Isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	105	88 a	97 a	95 ab	80 ab	34 cd
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Pyroxasulfone/sulfentrazone fb	PRE fb	292	98 a	98 a	99 a	91 ab	89 ab
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Pyroxasulfone/sulfentrazone + isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	292+105	99 a	96 a	99 a	95 ab	88 ab
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone fb	PRE fb	160	97 a	99 a	99 a	99 a	93 ab
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone + isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	160+105	95 a	99 a	99 a	97 ab	91 ab
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil fb	PRE fb	215	99 a	99 a	98 a	98 a	78 ab
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil + isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	215+105	92 a	99 a	98 a	93 ab	61 bc
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Isoxaflutole + glufosinate	Early POST	105+657	a,	95 a	85 ab	76 b	29 de
Isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	105	88 a	94 a	92 ab	97 ab	93 a
glufosinate fb	early POST fb	657					
glufosinate	late POST	657					
Isoxaflutole + glufosinate fb	Early POST fb	105+657	a,	92 a	94 ab	95 ab	89 ab
isoxaflutole + glufosinate	late POST	105+657					
Glyphosate fb	Early POST fb	1,260	a,	рq	0 d	0 d	0 d
glyphosate	late POST	1,260					
<sup>a</sup> Year-by-treatment interaction for Palmer amaranth contro <sup>b</sup> Vear-hvi-treatment interaction for Palmer amaranth contro	ol 14 DAPRE was not signated and 28	gnificant; therefore, o DALPOST was sign	lata were combin ificant <sup>.</sup> therefore	led across year data are prese	'S. ented senaratel	v for hoth vear	

\* Control of the second and a second of the second of the second of the second and second and the second second second of the second s

ents conducted near Carleton Nehraska in 2018 and 2019<sup>a</sup> Table 2-4. Effect of herbicide programs on glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth density reduction and biomass reduction and sovhean vield in field exn ata-racietant isovaflutole/olufosinate/olvnho

Undivide anothing (Mutheline) BI Pure and	Andiotion timing	Date Date	Delmar amount of	and the solution by	Diaman nduation(d	VITO TOTO	
	Smin noneonddo	NEXT	14 DAEPOST	14 DAEPOST	14 DALPOST	noo loo	, 1010 J
		g ae or ai ha <sup>-1</sup>	0		%	kg h	a <sup>-1</sup>
			2018	2019	2019	2018	2019
Nontreated control	'		0	0	0	955 b	2,129 c
Isoxaflutole	PRE	105	0 c	48 d	0 d	9 0 b	2,707 bc
Isoxaflutole fb isoxaflutole	PRE fb early POST	105 105	49 b	53 cd	0 d	1,112 ab	2,160 c
Glufosinate	Early POST	657	89 a	58 bcd	41 c	1,480 ab	2,038 c
Glufosinate fb olufosinate	Early POST fb late POST	657 657	92 a	78 abcd	90 a	1,697 ab	4,227 a
Isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	105	95 a	92 abc	49 bc	1,037 b	2,665 bc
glufosinate	early POST	657					
Pyroxasulfone/sulfentrazone fb glufosinate	PRE fb early POST	292 657	100 a	100 a	87 ab	1,751 ab	3,974 ab
Pyroxasulfone/sulfentrazone + isoxaflutole fb glufosinate	PRE fb early POST	292 + 105 657	100 a	100 a	95 a	2,294 a	4,022 ab
Flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone fb glufosinate	PRE fb early POST	160 657	100 a	100 a	92 a	1,935 ab	4,050 ab
Flumioxazin/pyroxasulfone + isoxaflutole fb glufosinate	PRE fb early POST	160 + 105 657	100 a	100 a	97 a	2,118 ab	3,630 ab
Imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil fb glufosinate	PRE fb early POST	215 657	100 a	99 ab	84 ab	2,027 ab	3,658 ab
Imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone/saflufenacil + isoxaflutole fb	PRE fb	215 + 105	100 a	99 ab	83 ab	1,461 ab	3,370 abc
glufosinate	early POST	/(0			•		0000
Isoxatlutole + glufosmate	Early POST	100 + 001	100 a	85 abcd	59 abc	db 1/c.1	2,033 c
Isoxaflutole fb glufosinate fb	PRE fb early POST fb	105 657; 657	95 a	87 abcd	95 a	1,975 ab	4,282 a
glufosifiate	late POST						
Isoxaflutole + glufosinate fb isoxaflutole + glufosinate	Early POST fb late POST	105 + 657 105 + 657	63 ab	94 abc	96 a	1,019 b	3,139 abc
Glyphosate fb glyphosate	Early POST fb late POST	1,260 1,260	0 c	0 e	0 đ	954 b	2,129 c
<sup>a</sup> Abbreviations: DAEPOST, d after car	rly-POST herbicide a	pplication; DAL	POST, d after late	POST herbicide a	pplication.		

<sup>b</sup>Year-by-treatment interaction for glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth density and soybean yield were significant; therefore, data were not

combined across the two years. <sup>c</sup>Biomass reduction data is only available for 2019. <sup>d</sup>Means presented within each column with no common letter(s) are significantly different according to Fisher's protected LSD test at  $P \le 0.05$ .

### CHAPTER 3:

# EVAPOTRANSPIRATION OF PALMER AMARANTH (*AMARANTHUS PALMERI* S. WATSON) IN CORN, SOYBEAN, AND FALLOW UNDER SUBSURFACE DRIP AND CENTER-PIVOT IRRIGATION SYSTEMS

## Abstract

Palmer amaranth (Amaranthus palmeri S. Watson) is a major biotic constraint in agronomic cropping systems in the United States due to its rapid growth rate and ability to tolerate adverse climatic conditions, among other characteristics. Weed-crop competition models offer a significant tool for understanding and predicting crop yield losses due to crop-weed interference. Research is currently dominated by empirical studies where crop yield loss and weed threshold values are predicted in response to variable weed density or biomass in certain environmental conditions. However, within these models, weed biological characteristics are unknown, which limits understanding of weed growth in competition with crops under different irrigation methods and how that competition affects crop growth parameters. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of center-pivot irrigation (CPI) and subsurface drip irrigation (SDI) on the average evapotranspiration ( $ET_a$ ) of Palmer amaranth grown in corn, soybean, and fallow in south central Nebraska. Field experiments were conducted in 2019 and 2020 at South Central Agricultural Laboratory near Clay Center, NE. Twelve Palmer amaranth plants were alternately transplanted one meter apart in the middle two rows of corn, soybean, and fallow subplots under CPI and SDI. Corn, soybean, and fallow subplots without Palmer amaranth were included for comparison. Watermark Granular Matrix soil

moisture sensors were installed at 0.3-, 0.6-, 0.9-m depths next to or between three Palmer amaranth and crop plants in each subplot. Soil matric potential data were collected hourly from the time of Palmer amaranth transplanting to crop harvest. Results suggest irrigation affects subplot ET<sub>a</sub> differences early in the growing season, but crop system and progression of plant growth with available water have a greater effect on ET<sub>a</sub> differences than irrigation type later in the growing season. Although there were irrigation differences in Palmer amaranth ET<sub>a</sub> in fallow subplots, growers typically do not irrigate fallow fields. Thus, crop management will likely have greater effects on Palmer amaranth ET<sub>a</sub> values than irrigation practices alone. This study provides baseline information about Palmer amaranth evapotranspiration and its relation to Palmer amaranth morphological features (i.e., growth index, biomass, and total leaf area) for future use in mechanistic weed-crop competition models.

#### Introduction

Research is currently dominated by empirical studies where crop yield loss (or crop yield) and weed threshold values are predicted in response to variable weed density or biomass in certain environmental conditions. Complex empirical models have been developed by considering variables such as multiple weed species in simultaneous competition (Firbank and Watkinson 1985; Pantone and Baker 1991; Park et al. 2002; Diggle et al. 2003), timing of weed emergence (Cousens et al. 1987; Neve et al. 2003), and weeds with multiple emergence patterns (Peltzer et al. 2012). However, within these models, weed biological characteristics are unknown, limiting our understanding of weed growth in competition with crops and how that competition affects crop growth parameters. Crop-weed competition is a complex phenomenon, and for predictive purposes, a detailed mechanistic model offers greater insights than an empirical model. Mechanistic models take into account all underlying morphological and physiological processes and their dependence on each other with respect to external forces and time (Singh et al. 2020). However, morphological and physiological plasticity in weed species is a challenge for studies/models that have been developed on the basis of weed growth. Research on weed biology and ecology has been conducted, although additional studies conducted in a systematic way and under different locations/environmental conditions are needed to elucidate simulation models and thus weed management decisions (Van Acker 2009; Chauhan and Johnson 2010).

The objective of this research was to determine the effect of center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation on the average evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth grown in corn, soybean, and fallow in south central Nebraska.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Plant Materials.** Glyphosate-resistant Palmer amaranth seed were germinated in 11.4 cm deep square plastic pots in a University of Nebraska-Lincoln greenhouse maintained at 18/24 °C day/night temperatures with a 14-hr photoperiod. Glyphosate-resistant seed was used so that other weeds could be controlled after Palmer amaranth was transplanted in the field. In order to ensure the Palmer amaranth plants were glyphosate-resistant, glyphosate at 64 fl oz/acre mixed with liquid ammonium sulfate at 3% v/v was sprayed on 10–12 cm tall Palmer amaranth plants using an AIXR Teejet nozzle that applied the herbicide mixture at a rate of 140.3 L ha<sup>-1</sup> at 1.0 m s<sup>-1</sup> using a chamber track sprayer.

Palmer amaranth plants survived the glyphosate application, signifying the seed source was truly glyphosate-resistant.

**Experimental Design, Site Description, and Crop Management.** Field experiments were conducted in the 2019 and 2020 growing seasons at the University of Nebraska-Lincoln South Central Agricultural Laboratory near Clay Center, Nebraska (40.57°N, 98.12°W). The soil at the experimental site is a Hastings silt loam, a well-drained upland soil with water holding characteristics of 0.34 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> field capacity, 0.14 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> permanent wilting point, and 0.53 m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> saturation point. Typical effective rooting depth of field corn in the experimental site is 1.2 m. Total available water holding capacity of the soil profile is 240 mm 1.2 m<sup>-1</sup> (Irmak 2010). The 30-year average rainfall in the area during the growing season (May to August) is 112.4 mm, with significant annual and growing season variability in both timing and magnitude (de Sanctis and Jhala 2021). The 2019 and 2020 growing season weather data are presented in Figure 3-1. The experiment used a split-plot design with irrigation as the whole-plot factor. Two methods of irrigation were used, including center-pivot (CPI) and subsurface drip irrigation (SDI). The CPI field was irrigated using a four-span hydraulic and continuous move system (T-L Irrigation, Hastings, Nebraska). The SDI field was irrigated with drip lines installed 0.4 m below the soil surface. The 257 m long laterals were centered in the inter-row area of every other plant with drip emitters spaced about 0.46 m apart along the laterals (Netafim-USA, Fresno, California). Subplots consisted of six cropping systems, including corn, corn with Palmer amaranth, soybean, soybean with Palmer amaranth, fallow, and fallow with Palmer amaranth. Soybean, corn, and fallow plots without Palmer amaranth were included for comparison. Each subplot measured 3 m wide by 9 m long, with four

rows of corn or soybean in the subplots containing these crops. The field was rolling stalk chopped without tillage practice. A broadcast application of 11-52-0 NPK at 168 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> and an in-furrow injection of 32-0-0 NPK at 201 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> were applied before crops were sown. Dekalb DKS 60-87RIB corn was planted at a depth of 5.0 cm and at a rate of 34,000 seeds acre<sup>-1</sup> [85,000 seeds ha<sup>-1</sup>]. NK S29-K3X soybean was planted at a depth of 3.8 cm and at a rate of 150,000 seeds acre<sup>-1</sup> [375,000 seeds ha<sup>-1</sup>]. A premix of saflufenacil/imazethapyr/pyroxasulfone (Zidua PRO herbicide) was applied at 6 fl oz/acre to soybean, a premix of atrazine/bicyclopyrone/mesotrione/*S*-metolachlor (Acuron herbicide) was applied at 2.5 qt/acre to corn and fallow, and a POST application of glyphosate at 32 fl oz/acre was applied across all subplots for control of existing weeds. Once Palmer amaranth plants reached a height of 18–25 cm in the greenhouse, twelve Palmer amaranth were alternately transplanted one meter apart in the middle two rows of each subplot. There were 36 Palmer amaranth plants under each irrigation system for a total of 72 sample units each year of the study.

**Measurement of Soil Water Status and Irrigation Management.** Watermark Granular Matrix Sensors (Irrometer Co, Riverside, California) were installed next to or between three Palmer amaranth plants and crop plants in each subplot to measure soil matric potential (SMP) on an hourly basis. The sensors were buried at 0.3-, 0.6-, and 0.9-m depths and data were collected from the Palmer amaranth transplant date to shortly before crop harvest in both years. A total of 45 and 54 sensors were installed across the subplots of each irrigation system in 2019 and 2020, respectively. The sensors were connected to Watermark Monitor dataloggers (Irrometer Co, Riverside, California). SMP measurements were converted to percent volumetric soil water content (VWC) using predetermined soil water retention curves for the same field (Irmak et al. 2016):

$$\theta_{\rm v} = (3 \times 10^{-6} \times \text{SMP}^2) - (0.0013 \times \text{SMP}) + 0.3764$$

where  $\theta_v$  is the volumetric soil water content (% vol or m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>), and SMP is the soil matric potential (kPa). VWC was converted to total soil water (TSW) by adding the VWC values at each sensor depth and multiplying by a conversion value of 3.048 (ft to mm). The TSW in the complete monitored soil profile (0–0.9 m) reflects the daily integration of soil moisture detected at individual incremental depths throughout the profile. Sensor data were used to determine crop and Palmer amaranth evapotranspiration using the soil water balance approach and for irrigation timing. Irrigation was initiated under CPI and SDI when the average of the top 0.9 m SMP values was approximately 100 to 110 kPa (Irmak et al. 2012, 2016), or when the soil-water in the crop root zone was depleted by 40% to 45% below field capacity (Kukal and Irmak 2019). The depletion criterion of 40% to 45% TSW was implemented to prevent water stress. Irrigation timing and amount for the 2019 and 2020 growing seasons are presented (Table 3-1).

**Seasonal Actual Evapotranspiration Using Soil-Water Balance.** Crop and Palmer amaranth actual evapotranspiration (ET<sub>a</sub>, mm) were calculated using a general soil-water balance equation:

$$P + I + U + R_{on} = R_{off} + D + \Delta SWS + ET_{a}$$

where *P* is precipitation (mm), *I* is irrigation water applied (mm), *U* is upward soil moisture flux (mm),  $R_{on}$  is surface run-on within the field (mm),  $R_{off}$  is surface runoff from individual treatments (mm),  $\Delta$ SWS is change in soil water storage in the root zone soil profile (mm), and *D* is deep percolation below the crop root zone (mm). Deep percolation was estimated by a soil water balance approach using a program written in Microsoft Visual Basic (Bryant et al. 1992). The inputs to the program are daily weather data (including precipitation, air temperature, relative humidity, wind speed, and incoming shortwave radiation), initial water content of the soil profile at crop emergence, irrigation date and amount, and crop- and site-specific information such as planting date, maturity date, maximum rooting depth, and soil parameters. The program calculated daily  $ET_a$  and the water balance in the crop root-zone using the two-step approach ( $ET_a = K_c \times ET_o$ ) where  $ET_o$  is evapotranspiration of a grass reference crop, and  $K_c$  is the crop coefficient. In the program,  $ET_o$  is calculated using weather data as the input to the Penman-Monteith equation (Monteith 1965; Monteith and Unsworth 1990), and  $K_c$  is used to adjust the estimated  $ET_o$  for the reference crop to that of the desired crops at different growth stages and environments (Kukal and Irmak 2019). The daily soil water balance equation used for calculating deep percolation is:

$$D_j = \max(P_j - R_j + I_j - \mathrm{ET}_{\mathrm{aj}} - \mathrm{CD}_{j-1}, 0)$$

where  $D_j$  is deep percolation on day j (mm),  $P_j$  is precipitation on day j (mm),  $R_j$  is precipitation and/or irrigation runoff from the soil surface on day j (mm),  $I_j$  is irrigation depth on day j (mm), ET<sub>aj</sub> is crop or Palmer amaranth actual evapotranspiration on day j(mm), and CD<sub>j</sub> is root zone cumulative depletion depth at the end of day j-1, estimated using the two-step approach (Bryant et al. 1992; Payero et al. 2009).  $R_{off}$  from individual treatments was estimated using the USDA-NRCS curve number method. According to the silt loam soil at the experimental site and the known land use, slope, and conservation tillage, curve number C = 75 was used (USDA-NRCS 1985). Assuming U and  $R_{on}$  are negligible, the soil water balance equation was reduced to the following form for calculating crop and Palmer amaranth ET<sub>a</sub>:

$$ET_a = P + I - R_{off} - D \pm \Delta SWS$$

Although the soil water balance approach is widely used for calculating  $ET_a$ , this approach may have drawbacks if the  $R_{off}$  and/or D values are not accurately quantified, resulting in erroneous  $ET_a$  calculations. This is of particular concern in humid and subhumid climates where  $R_{off}$  and/or D is greater than in arid or semiarid climates, where potential for runoff is minimal. Lysimetry and other surface energy balance type instruments (i.e., eddy covariance system) may provide more robust  $ET_a$  values since they do not need to account for  $R_{off}$  and/or D; however, their use in determining individual plot/treatment or replication-scale  $ET_a$  is not feasible. The soil water balance approach can be applied to each plot or replication of a given treatment, a requirement of this study.

**Growth Index, Plant Biomass, and Total Leaf Area Measurements.** Three Palmer amaranth plants were selected and sampled at four removal timings according to soybean growth stage. Removal timings occurred at V4, R1, R3, and R5 soybean growth stages in 2019, and at R1, R3, R5, and R6 soybean growth stages in 2020. Growth index, plant biomass, and total leaf area were determined at these removal timings. Growth index was calculated using the following equation (Irmak et al. 2004; Sarangi et al. 2015):

$$GI(cm^3) = \pi x (w/2)^2 x h$$

where w is the width of the plant calculated as an average of two widths, one measured at the widest point and another at 90° to the first; and h is the plant height measured from the soil surface to the shoot apical meristem. After plant height and width measurements were taken, leaves were counted and removed from each Palmer amaranth plant to measure total leaf area using a leaf area meter (LI-3100C Area Meter, Li-Cor, Lincoln, NE). Palmer amaranth plants were stored separately in paper bags and oven-dried at 65°C for 7 d to obtain dry biomass.

**Statistical Analysis.** TSW values were analyzed using the area under the curve (AUC) function in R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). AUC values were calculated for each treatment group [irrigation type x (crop system x Palmer amaranth)] and replicate combination. AUC values obtained in R were then analyzed in SAS with linear models using AUC as the response variable; irrigation, crop, and Palmer amaranth as explanatory variables; and the split plot design in the random statement to account for any design effects that could cause variability across AUC values. ET<sub>a</sub> values were analyzed using regression models in SAS with irrigation, crop, Palmer amaranth, and day as fixed effects. The terms irrigation, crop, and Palmer amaranth were treated as categorical, while day was treated as a quantitative regression variable. The main effect terms of irrigation, crop, and Palmer amaranth were initially analyzed to find significant differences ( $P \le 0.05$ ) between intercept terms for the regression lines. All categorical terms and their interactions were then interacted with a day linear term and day quadratic terms. The regression model was simplified by using the Type I table of fixed effects to remove terms one at a time that were not significant in relation to the ET response. Regression models were then run for each significant term in the reduced model. Prediction plots were also obtained by looking at a scatter plot of the raw data with an overlay of the regression lines from the analysis models. For the initial and reduced regression models, random terms were fit to account for variability due to experimental

design effects and for repeated measures across the days. A SP(POW) covariance structure was fit to both models since the day term is quantitative and unequally spaced, accounting for the repeated measurements between days. In order for the covariance parameter estimation and parameter estimation to run smoothly, ET<sub>a</sub> values were scaled down by a factor of ten. Additionally, regression model parameters were obtained to find predicted ET<sub>a</sub> values across regression lines. Regression lines for each crop system with and without Palmer amaranth under each irrigation type in 2019 were found using the parameter estimates in the following equation:

Predicted Avg Scaled ET<sub>Irr x Crop</sub>

Regression lines for each crop system under each irrigation type were separated out by the presence of Palmer amaranth or no Palmer amaranth in 2020 and were found using the parameter estimates in the following equation:

Growth index, plant biomass, and total leaf area were analyzed as response variables in SAS. Irrigation type, crop system, and sampling date were fit as class variables for all models analyzed. Variable main effects and interactions were analyzed for significance ( $P \le 0.05$ ). Random terms were included in the models to account for the split plot design. More specifically, the random terms accounted for differences between replicates, for differences between the split plot levels, and for the correct degrees of freedom within the models. Beginning with the largest interaction, if significant terms in the Type III effects of fixed effects table were found, differences between variable levels within these interactions were analyzed. Simple effect tests were run to find differences between specific levels while holding the levels of other variables in the interaction constant. If no interactions were significant, main effects were analyzed.

#### **Results and Discussion**

**Total Soil Water.** According to the Type III test of fixed effects for variable interactions and main effects in 2019, there were no statistical differences in the total soil water (TSW) of crop system with and without Palmer amaranth under center-pivot (CPI) and subsurface drip irrigation (SDI). However, there were differences that could impact the total water usage of a grower that has Palmer amaranth in their field and a grower who does not. According to Figure 3-2A,B, crop systems with Palmer amaranth had lower TSW than crop systems without Palmer amaranth under CPI and SDI, although TSW differences between crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth were greater under SDI. These results suggest that Palmer amaranth does influence TSW within corn and soybean systems and that early-season control is needed for optimum water savings in these crops. Irrigation as a main effect caused no statistical differences in TSW, although crop system as a main effect did cause differences in TSW in 2019 (Table 3-2). The largest difference in TSW occurred between corn and fallow systems (2,060 mm), followed by differences between corn and soybean systems (1,490 mm) under both irrigation types (Table 3-3).

Similarly in 2020, there were no statistical differences in the TSW of crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth under CPI or SDI. Unlike 2019, where crop systems with Palmer amaranth had lower TSW than crop systems without Palmer amaranth (Figure 3-2A,B), crop systems with Palmer amaranth in 2020 had similar or higher TSW values compared to crop systems without Palmer amaranth (Figure 3-3A,B). The only notable difference in TSW between crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth occurred under SDI between fallow systems in 2020 (Figure 3-3B). Irrigation as a main effect caused no differences in TSW, although crop system as a main effect did cause differences in TSW (Table 3-2). Differences in TSW between corn and fallow (6,870 mm) and soybean and fallow (5,470 mm) were even more pronounced than in 2019 (Table 3-3).

Scaled Actual Evapotranspiration. In 2019, there was a crop system effect on the intercepts of the reduced model (Table 3-4). Whereas corn systems with and without Palmer amaranth had the lowest TSW, corn systems with and without Palmer amaranth had the highest evapotranspiration ( $ET_c$ ) rates, followed by soybean with and without Palmer amaranth, and then fallow with and without Palmer amaranth having the lowest  $ET_c$  rates (Figure 3-4A). There was also an irrigation by day interaction (Table 3-4). CPI had higher  $ET_a$  rates than SDI at the beginning of the growing season and  $ET_a$  differences leveled out 40 d after sensor installation (Table 3-5; Figure 3-5). These results suggest that irrigation affects  $ET_a$  differences across crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth early in the growing season, but that crop system and progression of plant growth with available water have a greater effect on  $ET_a$  differences under CPI and SDI.

In 2020, crop and Palmer amaranth effects were greater compared to the 2019 growing season. The reduced model indicated linear and quadratic interactions between crop system, irrigation and crop system, and day  $\times$  day  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  Palmer amaranth (Table 3-4). In terms of the day  $\times$  day  $\times$  crop system  $\times$  Palmer amaranth interaction, statistical differences in ET<sub>a</sub> between crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth at the beginning of the growing season were not indicated, although there were differences. At 24 d after sensor installation through the remainder of the growing season, differences in ET<sub>a</sub> between fallow systems with and without Palmer amaranth were detected (Table 3-6). Overall, Palmer amaranth cumulative evapotranspiration (ET<sub>c</sub>) rates were higher under SDI than CPI, with the largest ET<sub>c</sub> differences occurring in fallow systems (Table 3-7; Figure 3-6). These results suggest the presence of Palmer amaranth influenced fallow system ET<sub>a</sub> more so than corn or soybean systems under both irrigation types. In terms of irrigation and crop system interactions, the largest  $ET_a$  differences occurred between soybean and fallow (32.1 mm) and corn and fallow (26.8 mm) under SDI, followed by differences in ET<sub>a</sub> between corn and fallow (17.4 mm) and soybean and fallow (16.4 mm) under CPI (Table 3-8). These results suggest a slight irrigation effect and major crop effect on ET<sub>a</sub> across crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth. Growth Index, Plant Biomass, and Total Leaf Area. In 2019 and 2020, irrigation type did not statistically influence Palmer amaranth growth index. However, there was a sampling date  $\times$  crop system interaction in both years (Table 3-7). In 2019, Palmer amaranth growth index values in fallow were statistically greater than corn and soybean systems at the third and fourth sampling dates (Figure 3-7A,B). Similarly in 2020, Palmer amaranth growth index values in fallow were statistically greater than corn and soybean

systems at the fourth sampling date (Figure 3-7C,D). In addition, there was a sampling date × irrigation type × crop system interaction in 2020, although this three-way interaction was likely the result of the sampling date × crop system interaction (Table 3-7). These results suggest crop system has a major effect on Palmer amaranth growth index, with greater growth index values of Palmer amaranth in fallow systems. There was also a slight irrigation effect in 2020, indicating that SDI may result in greater Palmer amaranth growth index. In terms of the sampling date effect, Palmer amaranth has aggressive growth characteristics; thus, a difference in Palmer amaranth growth index over time in well-watered conditions was expected.

Irrigation type did not statistically influence Palmer amaranth biomass in 2019 and 2020. However, as expected, there was a sampling date × crop system interaction in both years (Table 3-8). Similar to Palmer amaranth growth index results, Palmer amaranth biomass was greater in fallow compared to corn and soybean systems at the third and fourth sampling dates (Figure 3-8A). These results are supported by the fact that Palmer amaranth growth over time directly affects Palmer amaranth biomass accumulation over time. In 2019, there was sampling date × irrigation type interaction, although this interaction was likely driven by the Palmer amaranth biomass differences across sampling dates (Table 3-8; Figure 3-8B). In 2020, there were sampling date × irrigation type × crop system, sampling date × crop system, and irrigation type × crop system interactions. Irrigation as a main effect did not statistically influence Palmer amaranth biomass, so the sampling date × irrigation type × crop system; and irrigation type × crop system interactions were likely driven by the sampling date and crop system effects (Table 3-8). In 2019 and 2020, irrigation type did not statistically influence Palmer amaranth total leaf area. In 2019, there were no variable interactions, indicating that irrigation type, crop system, nor sampling date caused differences in Palmer amaranth total leaf area (Table 3-9; Figure 3-9A,B). Despite the lack of statistical differences of Palmer amaranth total leaf area in corn, soybean and fallow under both irrigation types, Palmer amaranth total leaf area was greatest in fallow, but only at the third and fourth sampling dates (Figure 3-9A,B). However, in 2020, there was a sampling date × irrigation type × crop system interaction that was likely driven by the sampling date × crop system interaction (Table 3-9). Similar to Palmer amaranth growth index and biomass results, Palmer amaranth total leaf area was greater in fallow systems compared to corn systems at the second, third, and fourth sampling dates, and soybean systems at the third and fourth sampling dates (Figure 9C-D). These results are supported by Palmer amaranth growth index and biomass results given the knowledge that Palmer amaranth growth index over time directly affects biomass accumulation and total leaf area over time.

## **Practical Implications**

This is the first study that evaluates the actual evapotranspiration ( $ET_a$ ) of Palmer amaranth in multiple crop systems under center-pivot (CPI) and subsurface drip irrigation (SDI) with the goal to find an irrigation effect on Palmer amaranth  $ET_a$ . Irrigation contributes to differences in  $ET_a$  between crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth early in the growing season, where crop systems with and without Palmer amaranth had higher  $ET_a$  rates under CPI compared to SDI. However, the irrigation effect is likely overcome by differences in crop  $ET_a$ , later in the growing season. Thus, irrigation and crop management may influence Palmer amaranth  $ET_a$  rates. In regard to total soil water (TSW), crop system, irrigation type, and Palmer amaranth influenced ET<sub>a</sub> rates, with lower TSW in crop systems with Palmer amaranth and lower TSW in center-pivot crop systems. Irrigation type did not cause noticeable differences among Palmer amaranth growth index, plant biomass, and total leaf area values. This study provides base data on Palmer amaranth evapotranspiration and its relation to Palmer amaranth morphological features (i.e., growth index, biomass, and total leaf area) for future use in mechanistic weed-crop competition models. Further research on weed evapotranspiration should be conducted at more locations under varying climatic conditions to build a robust database of evapotranspiration for important agronomic weed species such as Palmer amaranth, waterhemp, and horseweed.

## **Literature Cited**

- Bryant KJ, Benson VW, Kiniry JR, Williams JR, Lacewell RD (1992) Simulating corn yield response to irrigation timings: Validation of the EPIC model. J Prod Agric 5:237–242
- Chauhan BS, Johnson DE (2010) The role of seed ecology in improving weed management strategies in the tropics. Adv Agron 105:221–262
- Cousens R, Brain P, O'Donovan JT, O'Sullivan PA (1987) The use of biologically realistic equations to describe the effects of weed density and relative time of emergence on crop yield. Weed Sci 35:720–725
- Diggle AJ, Neve PB, Smith FP (2003) Herbicides used in combination can reduce the probability of herbicide resistance in finite weed populations. Weed Res 43:371–382
- Irmak S (2010) Nebraska water and energy flux measurement, modeling, and research network (NEBFLUX). T ASABE 53:1097–1115
- Irmak S, Burgert MJ, Yang HS, Cassman KG, Walters DT, Rathje WR,..., Teichmeier GJ (2012) Large scale on-farm implementation of soil moisture-based irrigation management strategies for increasing maize water productivity. T ASABE 55:881– 894
- Irmak S, Haman DZ, Irmak A, Jones JW, Campbell KL, Crisman TL (2004)
  Measurement and analysis of growth and stress parameters of *Viburnum odoratissimum* (Ker-gawl) grown in a multi-plot box system. HortScience 39:1445– 1455

- Irmak S, Payero JO, VanDeWalle B, Rees J, Zoubek G, Martin DL, Kranz WL, Eisenhauer DE, Leininger D (2016) Principles and operational characteristics of Watermark granular matrix sensor to measure soil water status and its practical applications for irrigation management in various soil textures. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska-Lincoln Extension. Circular EC783
- Kukal MS, Irmak S (2019) Characterization of water use and productivity dynamics across four C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> row crops under optimal growth conditions. Agr Water Manage 227:105840
- Monteith JL (1965) The state of movement of water in living organisms: Evaporation and environment. Pages 205–234 *in* Proceedings of the Society of Experimental Biology, Symposium 19. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Monteith JL, Unsworth M (1990) Principles of Environmental Physics. 2nd ed. London: Edward Asner Publishers
- Neve P, Diggle AJ, Smith FP (2003) Simulating evolution of glyphosate resistance in *Lolium rigidum* I: population biology of a rare resistance trait. Weed Res 43:404–417
- Pantone DJ, Baker JB (1991) Reciprocal yield analysis of red rice (*Oryza sativa*) competition in cultivated rice. Weed Sci 39:42–47
- Park SE, Benjamin LR, Watkinson AR (2002) Comparing biological productivity in cropping systems: a competition approach. J Appl Ecol 39:416–426
- Payero JO, Tarkalson DD, Irmak S, Davison D, Peterson JL (2009) Effect of timing of a deficit-irrigation allocation on corn evapotranspiration, yield, water use efficiency, and dry mass. Agr Water Manage 96:1387–1397

- Peltzer S, Dougla A, Diggle AJ, George W, Renton M (2012) The Weed Seed Wizard: have we got a solution for you! Pages 99–102 *in* Proceedings of the 18<sup>th</sup> Australasian Weeds Conference. Victoria, Melbourne: Weed Society of Victoria
- Sarangi D, Irmak S, Lindquist JL, Knezevic SZ, Jhala AJ (2015) Effect of water stress on the growth and fecundity of common waterhemp (*Amaranthus rudis*). Weed Sci 64:42–52
- Singh M, Kaur S, Chauhan BS (2020) Weed interference models. Pages 117–142 *in* Chantre G, Gonzalez-Andujar J, eds. Decision Support Systems for Weed Management. Switzerland: Springer
- USDA-NRCS (1985) National Engineering Handbook (NEH), Section 4: Hydrology. Washington, DC: USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service
- Van Acker RC (2009) Weed biology serves practical weed management. Weed Res 49:1–5

Center	-pivot irrigation	Subsur	face drip irrigation
Date	Amount	Date	Amount
	mm		mm
2019		2019	
7/31	32	8/2	32
2020		2020	
7/13	32	7/15	32
7/28	32	7/29	32
8/7	32	8/7	32
8/17	32	8/17	32
8/24	32	8/24	32
9/1	32	9/1	32

**Table 3-1.** Center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation date and amount in the 2019 and2020 growing seasons at South Central Agricultural Laboratory in Clay Center, NE.

**Table 3-2.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type × crop system × Palmer amaranth main effects and interactions for total soil water in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

		20	19			202	20	
Effect	Num	Den	F	Pr > F	Num	Den	F	Pr > F
	DF	DF	Value		DF	DF	Value	
Irrigation	1	4	3.09	0.1536	1	4	2.80	0.1697
Crop	2	8	4.58	0.0473	2	8	23.60	0.0004
Irrigation*Crop	2	8	0.15	0.8595	2	8	2.64	0.1314
Palmer	1	8	0.81	0.3936	1	12	0.49	0.4985
Irrigation*Palmer	1	8	0.05	0.8363	1	12	0.25	0.6260
Crop*Palmer	1	8	0.76	0.4093	2	12	2.69	0.1080
Irrigation*Crop*Palmer	1	8	0.00	0.9495	2	12	1.40	0.2836

\*Significance at  $P \le 0.05$ 

**Table 3-3.** Least squares means T grouping for total soil water by crop system under center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

	2019				2020	
Crop	Estimate			Crop	Estimate	
	mm				mm	
Fallow	39941		A	Fallow	32208	A
			Α			
Soybean	39368	В	Α	Soybean	26739	В
		В				В
Corn	37882	B		Corn	25339	В

\*Least squares means (alpha = 0.05) with the same letter are not significantly different

**Table 3-4.** Type I tests of fixed effects for the irrigation type × crop system × day main effects and interactions in the reduced models for actual evapotranspiration in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

		201	.9	
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F
Irrigation	1	4	10.17	0.0333
Crop	2	10	5.53	0.0241
Day	1	416	167.42	<.0001
Day*Irrigation	1	416	7.15	0.0078
Day*Day	1	416	1.55	0.2142
Day*Day*Irrigation	1	416	6.85	0.0092
		202	20	
Irrigation	1	4	1.74	0.2570
Crop	2	8	42.25	<.0001
Irrigation*Crop	2	8	3.64	0.0750
PA_None	1	15	1.63	0.2206
Crop*PA_None	2	15	2.27	0.1377
Day	1	384	154.37	<.0001
Day*Crop	2	384	12.03	<.0001
Day*PA_None	1	384	0.05	0.8201
Day*Crop*PA_None	2	384	0.18	0.8331
Day*Day	1	384	19.66	<.0001
Day*Day*Crop	2	384	0.73	0.4834
Day*Day*PA_None	1	384	0.63	0.4267
Day*Day*Crop*PA_Non	2	384	3.21	0.0413

\*Significance at  $P \le 0.05$ 

**Table 3-5.** Least squares means T grouping for actual evapotranspiration by irrigation type and day in 2019 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

	2019		
Irrigation	Day	Estimate	
		mm	
Pivot	1.00	5.8416	A
SDI	1.00	3.0755	В
Pivot	8.00	5.4170	A
SDI	8.00	3.1554	В
Pivot	24.00	4.4940	A
SDI	24.00	3.2035	В
Pivot	31.00	4.1111	A
SDI	31.00	3.1658	В
Pivot	40.00	3.6376	A
SDI	40.00	3.0647	Α
Pivot	47.00	3.2838	A
SDI	47.00	2.9451	A
Pivot	58.00	2.7535	A
SDI	58.00	2.6849	Α
SDI	66.00	2.4402	A
Pivot	66.00	2.3876	A
SDI	74.00	2.1487	A
Pivot	74.00	2.0383	A
SDI	83.00	1.7649	A
Pivot	83.00	1.6652	A
SDI	89.00	1.4762	A
Pivot	89.00	1.4282	A
Pivot	98.00	1.0902	А
SDI	98.00	0.9938	A

\*Least squares means (alpha=0.05) with the same letter are not significantly different

**Table 3-6.** Actual evapotranspiration simple effect comparisons of crop system with and without Palmer amaranth by day in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

Simple Effect Level         PA_None         Day         Estimate mm- bil         Standard Error         DF         I Value         Pr >            Alpha         Lower         Upper           Cop Corn         None         PA         1.00         -0.03075         1.0669         15         -0.03         0.9774         0.05         -2.3048         2.2433           Fallow         None         PA         1.00         -0.1530         1.0669         15         -0.03         0.9774         0.05         -2.3048         2.2433           Soybean         None         PA         1.00         -0.1530         1.0669         15         -0.14         0.8879         0.05         -2.4271         2.1210           Corm         None         PA         8.00         -0.2187         0.8215         15         -0.05         0.9606         0.05         -1.221         1.1513         1.1523           Soybean         None         PA         24.00         -1.452         0.5737         15         -2.52         0.026         0.05         -2.224         0.2224           Soybean         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -1.16         0.2647         0.05			Simple Effe	ect Comp	arisons of Cr	op*PA None	Least	Squares M	eans By C	rop		
Effect Level Crop         Image: Construction of the second sec	Simple	PA_None	PA_None	Day	Estimate	Standard	DF	t Value	Pr >  t	Alpha	Lower	Upper
Level Crop         None         PA         1.00         -0.03075         1.0669         15         -0.03         0.9774         0.05         -2.3048         2.2433           Fallow         None         PA         1.00         0.5122         1.0669         15         0.48         0.6381         0.05         -1.7618         2.7863           Soybean         None         PA         1.00         -0.5120         1.0669         15         -0.04         0.8319         0.05         -1.7618         2.7863           Soybean         None         PA         8.00         -0.0120         0.8215         15         -0.05         0.9606         0.05         -1.7921         1.7097           Fallow         None         PA         8.00         0.2187         0.8215         15         0.15         0.842         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Corm         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         0.12         0.9055         0.055         -0.224           Soybean         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3091         1.1361         0.26	Effect				mm	Error				-		
$ \begin{array}{ c ccmp- ccm } \hline  ccm  &  ccm  &  ccm  &  ccm  &  ccm  \\ \hline Com None PA & 1.00 & -0.03075 & 1.0669 & 15 & -0.03 & 0.9774 & 0.05 & -2.3048 & 2.2433 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 1.00 & -0.1530 & 1.0669 & 15 & -0.14 & 0.8879 & 0.05 & -1.7618 & 2.7863 \\ \hline Soybean None PA & 8.00 & -0.04122 & 0.8215 & 15 & -0.05 & 0.9606 & 0.05 & -1.7921 & 1.7097 \\ \hline Com None PA & 8.00 & -0.2187 & 0.8215 & 15 & -0.27 & 0.937 & 0.05 & -1.6966 & 1.5322 \\ \hline Soybean None PA & 8.00 & 0.2187 & 0.8215 & 15 & -0.15 & 0.8842 & 0.05 & -1.6293 & 1.8726 \\ \hline Com None PA & 8.00 & -0.04850 & 0.5737 & 15 & -0.12 & 0.9065 & 0.05 & -1.2913 & 1.1543 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 24.00 & -0.06850 & 0.5737 & 15 & -0.12 & 0.9065 & 0.05 & -2.6680 \\ \hline Com None PA & 24.00 & -1.4452 & 0.5737 & 15 & -0.12 & 0.0236 & 0.05 & -2.6680 \\ \hline Corn None PA & 24.00 & 0.5593 & 0.5737 & 15 & -0.14 & 0.8888 & 0.05 & -1.3099 & 1.1461 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 31.00 & -1.7875 & 0.5761 & 15 & -1.16 & 0.2647 & 0.05 & -0.6635 & 1.7821 \\ \hline Soybean None PA & 31.00 & -1.7875 & 0.5761 & 15 & -1.16 & 0.2647 & 0.05 & -0.5059 \\ \hline Soybean None PA & 40.00 & -2.0538 & 0.6053 & 15 & -0.17 & 0.8703 & 0.05 & -3.3439 & -0.7637 \\ \hline Soybean None PA & 40.00 & -2.0538 & 0.6053 & 15 & -0.17 & 0.8736 & 0.05 & -3.349 & -0.7637 \\ \hline Soybean None PA & 47.00 & -2.1258 & 0.6178 & 15 & -0.19 & 0.8356 & 0.05 & -3.2427 & -0.8888 \\ \hline Corn None PA & 47.00 & -0.1460 & 0.6178 & 15 & -0.19 & 0.8356 & 0.05 & -1.4329 & 1.2094 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 47.00 & -1.228 & 0.6178 & 15 & -0.19 & 0.8356 & 0.05 & -1.4329 & 1.2094 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 58.00 & -0.1628 & 0.5975 & 15 & -0.24 & 0.813 & 0.05 & -1.4329 & 1.2084 \\ \hline Corn None PA & 58.00 & -0.1628 & 0.5975 & 15 & -0.24 & 0.813 & 0.05 & -1.4357 & 1.1315 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 58.00 & -1.0298 & 0.5975 & 15 & -0.24 & 0.813 & 0.05 & -1.4357 & 1.1315 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 66.00 & -1.7248 & 0.503 & 15 & -0.24 & 0.813 & 0.05 & -1.4358 & 1.0318 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 74.00 & -1.2952 & 0.5379 & 15 & -0.34 & 0.758 & 0.05 & -1.3568 & 1.0318 \\ \hline Fallow None PA & 74.00 & -1.2952 & 0.5379 & 15 & -0.34 & $	Level											
Corn         None         PA         1.00         -0.03075         1.0669         15         -0.03         0.9774         0.05         -2.3048         2.2433           Fallow         None         PA         1.00         0.5122         1.0669         15         0.48         0.035         -1.7618         2.7863           Soybean         None         PA         8.00         -0.1530         1.0669         15         -0.14         0.8879         0.05         -2.4271         1.21210           Corn         None         PA         8.00         -0.2187         0.8215         15         -0.027         0.7937         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Soybean         None         PA         24.00         -1.4452         0.5737         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Corn         None         PA         24.00         -5593         0.5761         15         -0.12         0.9065         -0.6635         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.5761         15         -0.10         0.05         -3.015        5604         1.8956           Corn         None	Crop											
Fallow         None         PA         1.00         0.5122         1.0669         15         0.48         0.6381         0.05         -1.7618         2.7863           Soybean         None         PA         1.00         -0.1530         1.0669         15         -0.14         0.8879         0.05         -2.4271         2.1210           Corn         None         PA         8.00         -0.04122         0.8215         15         -0.05         0.9606         0.05         -1.9696         1.5322           Soybean         None         PA         8.00         0.1216         0.8215         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Corn         None         PA         24.00         -1.4452         0.5737         15         -2.52         0.0236         0.05         -0.635         1.7821           Soybean         None         PA         31.00         -0.7875         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -0.6676         0.5761         15         -1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5504         1.8956 <td>Corn</td> <td>None</td> <td>PA</td> <td>1.00</td> <td>-0.03075</td> <td>1.0669</td> <td>15</td> <td>-0.03</td> <td>0.9774</td> <td>0.05</td> <td>-2.3048</td> <td>2.2433</td>	Corn	None	PA	1.00	-0.03075	1.0669	15	-0.03	0.9774	0.05	-2.3048	2.2433
Soybean         None         PA         1.00         -0.1530         1.0669         15         -0.14         0.8879         0.05         -2.4271         2.1210           Corn         None         PA         8.00         -0.0187         0.8215         15         -0.270         0.7937         0.05         -1.9696         1.5322           Soybean         None         PA         8.00         -0.2187         0.8215         15         -0.27         0.7937         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Corn         None         PA         24.00         -0.06850         0.5737         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -1.2931         1.1543           Fallow         None         PA         24.00         -1.4452         0.5737         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -2.6680         -         0.2224           Soybean         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         0.97         0.3451         0.05         -0.6635         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.676         0.5761         15         -1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5604	Fallow	None	PA	1.00	0.5122	1.0669	15	0.48	0.6381	0.05	-1.7618	2.7863
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Soybean	None	PA	1.00	-0.1530	1.0669	15	-0.14	0.8879	0.05	-2.4271	2.1210
Fallow         None         PA         8.00         -0.2187         0.8215         15         -0.27         0.7937         0.05         -1.9696         1.5322           Soybean         None         PA         8.00         0.1216         0.8215         15         0.15         0.8842         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Corn         None         PA         24.00         -0.06850         0.5737         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -1.2913         1.1543           Fallow         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         -0.22         0.0256         0.05         -0.6635         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.7875         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5604         1.8956           Corn         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -1.3906         1.8956	Corn	None	PA	8.00	-0.04122	0.8215	15	-0.05	0.9606	0.05	-1.7921	1.7097
Soybean         None         PA         8.00         0.1216         0.8215         15         0.15         0.8842         0.05         -1.6293         1.8726           Corn         None         PA         24.00         -0.06850         0.5737         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -1.2913         1.1543           Fallow         None         PA         24.00         -1.4452         0.5737         15         -2.52         0.026         0.05         -2.6680         0.2224           Soybean         None         PA         31.00         -0.08192         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -3.099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -3.10         0.0073         0.05         -3.0155         -         0.5595           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -1.39         0.0040         0.05         -3.390         0.040         0.05         -3.390         0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         -7.2323         0.6053         15         -1.21 <td>Fallow</td> <td>None</td> <td>PA</td> <td>8.00</td> <td>-0.2187</td> <td>0.8215</td> <td>15</td> <td>-0.27</td> <td>0.7937</td> <td>0.05</td> <td>-1.9696</td> <td>1.5322</td>	Fallow	None	PA	8.00	-0.2187	0.8215	15	-0.27	0.7937	0.05	-1.9696	1.5322
Corn         None         PA         24.00         -0.06850         0.5737         15         -0.12         0.9065         0.05         -1.2913         1.1543           Fallow         None         PA         24.00         -1.4452         0.5737         15         -2.52         0.0236         0.05         -2.6680         -0.2224           Soybean         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         0.97         0.3451         0.05         -0.6232         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -3.0155        5         0.5595           Soybean         None         PA         31.00         0.6676         0.5761         15         1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5604         1.8956           Corn         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -3.39         0.0040         0.05         -3.3439        67637         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -3.44         0.0036         0.05	Soybean	None	PA	8.00	0.1216	0.8215	15	0.15	0.8842	0.05	-1.6293	1.8726
Fallow         None         PA         24.00         -1.4452         0.5737         15         -2.52         0.0236         0.05         -2.6680        0.2224           Soybean         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         0.97         0.3451         0.05         -0.6635         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.08192         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5604         1.8956           Corn         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -3.3439         -         0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         0.7323         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -5.577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -1.17         0.2550         0.05         -5.577	Corn	None	PA	24.00	-0.06850	0.5737	15	-0.12	0.9065	0.05	-1.2913	1.1543
None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         0.97         0.3451         0.05         0.66635         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.08192         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -3.10         0.0073         0.05         -3.0155         -         0.5595           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         -0.1005         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -1.3906         1.1896           Fallow         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -2.12         0.2450         0.05         -0.5577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -0.1160         0.6178         15         -1.1         0.8366         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418	Fallow	None	РА	24.00	-1.4452	0.5737	15	-2.52	0.0236	0.05	-2.6680	_
Soybean         None         PA         24.00         0.5593         0.5737         15         0.97         0.3451         0.05         -0.6635         1.7821           Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.08192         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -3.10         0.0073         0.05         -3.0155        5595           Soybean         None         PA         31.00         -0.6676         0.5761         15         1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5604         1.8956           Corn         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -1.3906         1.1896           Fallow         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -0.5577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009 </td <td> </td> <td></td> <td>0.2224</td>												0.2224
Corn         None         PA         31.00         -0.08192         0.5761         15         -0.14         0.8888         0.05         -1.3099         1.1461           Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -3.10         0.0073         0.05         -3.0155        5595           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         -0.1005         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -3.3439          0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -3.3439          0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         0.7323         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -0.577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05	Sovbean	None	PA	24.00	0.5593	0.5737	15	0.97	0.3451	0.05	-0.6635	1.7821
Fallow         None         PA         31.00         -1.7875         0.5761         15         -3.10         0.0073         0.05         -3.0155         -0.5595           Soybean         None         PA         31.00         0.6676         0.5761         15         1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5004         1.8956           Corm         None         PA         40.00         -0.1005         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -1.3906         1.1896           Fallow         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -3.39         0.0040         0.05         -3.3439         -         0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         -0.21258         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         -1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.121         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157 <td>Corn</td> <td>None</td> <td>РА</td> <td>31.00</td> <td>-0.08192</td> <td>0.5761</td> <td>15</td> <td>-0.14</td> <td>0.8888</td> <td>0.05</td> <td>-1.3099</td> <td>1.1461</td>	Corn	None	РА	31.00	-0.08192	0.5761	15	-0.14	0.8888	0.05	-1.3099	1.1461
Internation         Internation <thinternation< th=""> <thinternation< th=""></thinternation<></thinternation<>	Fallow	None	PA	31.00	-1.7875	0.5761	15	-3.10	0.0073	0.05	-3.0155	-
Soybean         None         PA         31.00         0.6676         0.5761         15         1.16         0.2647         0.05         -0.5604         1.8956           Corn         None         PA         40.00         -0.1005         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -1.3906         1.1896           Fallow         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -3.39         0.0040         0.05         -3.3439         -         0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         0.7323         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -0.5577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15        19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157	1 units in	1.0110		01.00	11,0,0	0.0701		5.10	0.007.0	0.00	0.0100	0.5595
Corn         None         PA         40.00         -0.1005         0.6053         15         -0.17         0.8703         0.05         -1.3906         1.1896           Fallow         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -3.39         0.0040         0.05         -3.349         -         0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         -0.1160         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -3.4429         1.2029           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15        19         0.8536         0.05         -3.4429         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568	Sovbean	None	РА	31.00	0.6676	0.5761	15	1.16	0.2647	0.05	-0.5604	1.8956
Fallow         None         PA         40.00         -2.0538         0.6053         15         -3.39         0.0040         0.05         -3.3439         0.7637           Soybean         None         PA         40.00         0.7323         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -0.5577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -0.1160         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -3.4429         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -3.44         0.0036         0.05         -3.4427         -         0.8088           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -0.6108         0.5975         15         1.02         0.3229         0.05         -0.6628	Corn	None	РА	40.00	-0.1005	0.6053	15	-0.17	0.8703	0.05	-1.3906	1.1896
None         PA         40.00         0.7323         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -0.5577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -0.1160         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -3.44         0.0036         0.05         -3.4427         -         0.8088           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1998         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -0.1998         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -0.6628         1.8843           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318	Fallow	None	PA	40.00	-2.0538	0.6053	15	-3.39	0.0040	0.05	-3.3439	-
Soybean         None         PA         40.00         0.7323         0.6053         15         1.21         0.2450         0.05         -0.5577         2.0224           Corn         None         PA         47.00         -0.1160         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -3.44         0.0036         0.05         -3.4427         -         0.8088           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -         0.7262           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05								,				0.7637
Corn         None         PA         47.00         -0.1160         0.6178         15         -0.19         0.8536         0.05         -1.4329         1.2009           Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -3.44         0.0036         0.05         -3.4427         -         0.8088           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -         0.7262           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05	Sovbean	None	PA	40.00	0.7323	0.6053	15	1.21	0.2450	0.05	-0.5577	2.0224
Fallow         None         PA         47.00         -2.1258         0.6178         15         -3.44         0.0036         0.05         -3.4427         -         0.8088           Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -         0.7262           Soybean         None         PA         58.00         0.6108         0.5975         15         1.02         0.3229         0.05         -0.6628         1.8843           Corn         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05	Corn	None	PA	47.00	-0.1160	0.6178	15	-0.19	0.8536	0.05	-1.4329	1.2009
Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -6.108         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -         0.7262           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -         -           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -1	Fallow	None	PA	47.00	-2.1258	0.6178	15	-3.44	0.0036	0.05	-3.4427	-
Soybean         None         PA         47.00         0.7249         0.6178         15         1.17         0.2590         0.05         -0.5921         2.0418           Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -           Soybean         None         PA         58.00         0.6108         0.5975         15         1.02         0.3229         0.05         -0.6628         1.8843           Corn         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -         -         0.5305           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.8088</td></t<>							-					0.8088
Corn         None         PA         58.00         -0.1421         0.5975         15         -0.24         0.8153         0.05         -1.4157         1.1315           Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -           Soybean         None         PA         58.00         0.6108         0.5975         15         1.02         0.3229         0.05         -0.6628         1.8843           Corn         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -         0.5305           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305	Soybean	None	PA	47.00	0.7249	0.6178	15	1.17	0.2590	0.05	-0.5921	2.0418
Fallow         None         PA         58.00         -1.9998         0.5975         15         -3.35         0.0044         0.05         -3.2734         -0.7262           Soybean         None         PA         58.00         0.6108         0.5975         15         1.02         0.3229         0.05         -0.6628         1.8843           Corn         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4417         -	Corn	None	PA	58.00	-0.1421	0.5975	15	-0.24	0.8153	0.05	-1.4157	1.1315
Image: Solution of the state of th	Fallow	None	PA	58.00	-1.9998	0.5975	15	-3.35	0.0044	0.05	-3.2734	-
Soybean         None         PA         58.00         0.6108         0.5975         15         1.02         0.3229         0.05         -0.6628         1.8843           Corn         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4117         -         0.1488           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249							-					0.7262
Corn         None         PA         66.00         -0.1625         0.5603         15         -0.29         0.7758         0.05         -1.3568         1.0318           Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4117         -         0.1488           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905	Soybean	None	PA	58.00	0.6108	0.5975	15	1.02	0.3229	0.05	-0.6628	1.8843
Fallow         None         PA         66.00         -1.7248         0.5603         15         -3.08         0.0076         0.05         -2.9191         -           Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4417         -         -         0.1488           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710	Corn	None	PA	66.00	-0.1625	0.5603	15	-0.29	0.7758	0.05	-1.3568	1.0318
Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4417         -           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710	Fallow	None	PA	66.00	-1.7248	0.5603	15	-3.08	0.0076	0.05	-2.9191	-
Soybean         None         PA         66.00         0.4492         0.5603         15         0.80         0.4352         0.05         -0.7451         1.6435           Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4417         -           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710												0.5305
Corn         None         PA         74.00         -0.1841         0.5379         15         -0.34         0.7369         0.05         -1.3305         0.9624           Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.4417         -           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710	Soybean	None	PA	66.00	0.4492	0.5603	15	0.80	0.4352	0.05	-0.7451	1.6435
Fallow         None         PA         74.00         -1.2952         0.5379         15         -2.41         0.0294         0.05         -2.417         -0.1488           Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710	Corn	None	PA	74.00	-0.1841	0.5379	15	-0.34	0.7369	0.05	-1.3305	0.9624
Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710	Fallow	None	PA	74.00	-1.2952	0.5379	15	-2.41	0.0294	0.05	-2.4417	-
Soybean         None         PA         74.00         0.2215         0.5379         15         0.41         0.6863         0.05         -0.9249         1.3680           Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710												0.1488
Corn         None         PA         83.00         -0.2097         0.6009         15         -0.35         0.7319         0.05         -1.4905         1.0710	Soybean	None	PA	74.00	0.2215	0.5379	15	0.41	0.6863	0.05	-0.9249	1.3680
	Corn	None	PA	83.00	-0.2097	0.6009	15	-0.35	0.7319	0.05	-1.4905	1.0710
Fallow None PA 83.00 -0.6274 0.6009 15 -1.04 0.3130 0.05 -1.9081 0.6534	Fallow	None	PA	83.00	-0.6274	0.6009	15	-1.04	0.3130	0.05	-1.9081	0.6534
Sovbean None PA 83.00 -0.1137 0.6009 15 -0.19 0.8525 0.05 -1.3944 1.1671	Soybean	None	PA	83.00	-0.1137	0.6009	15	-0.19	0.8525	0.05	-1.3944	1.1671
Corn None PA 89.00 -0.2277 0.7246 15 -0.31 0.7577 0.05 -1.7720 1.3167	Corn	None	PA	89.00	-0.2277	0.7246	15	-0.31	0.7577	0.05	-1.7720	1.3167
Fallow None PA 89.00 -0.07347 0.7246 15 -0.10 0.9206 0.05 -1.6178 1.4709	Fallow	None	PA	89.00	-0.07347	0.7246	15	-0.10	0.9206	0.05	-1.6178	1.4709
Sovbean None PA 89.00 -0.3837 0.7246 15 -0.53 0.6042 0.05 -1.9280 1.1607	Soybean	None	PA	89.00	-0.3837	0.7246	15	-0.53	0.6042	0.05	-1.9280	1,1607
Corn None PA 98.00 -0.2558 1.0298 15 -0.25 0.8072 0.05 -2.4507 1.9390	Corn	None	РА	98.00	-0.2558	1.0298	15	-0.25	0.8072	0.05	-2.4507	1.9390
Fallow None PA 98.00 0.9203 1.0298 15 0.89 0.3856 0.05 1.7746 3.1152	Fallow	None	PA	98.00	0.9203	1.0298	15	0.89	0.3856	0.05	-1 2746	3 1152
Sovbean None PA 98.00 -0.8584 1.0298 15 -0.83 0.4176 0.05 -3.0533 1.3365	Sovbean	None	PA	98.00	-0.8584	1.0298	15	-0.83	0.4176	0.05	-3.0533	1.3365

\*Significance at  $P \le 0.05$
**Table 3-7.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type × crop system × sampling date main effects and interactions for Palmer amaranth growth index in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

		20	)19			20	)20	
Effect	Num	Den	F	Pr > F	Num	Den	F	Pr > F
	DF	DF	Value		DF	DF	Value	
Irrigation	1	4	0.23	0.6560	1	4	0.91	0.3937
Crop	2	8	18.27	0.0010	2	8	13.60	0.0027
Irrigation*Crop	2	8	0.25	0.7870	2	8	2.71	0.1266
Date	3	36	21.78	<.0001	3	36	8.47	0.0002
Date*Irrigation	3	36	0.13	0.9436	3	36	1.28	0.2970
Date*Crop	6	36	8.81	<.0001	6	36	6.09	0.0002
Date*Irrigation*Crop	6	36	0.17	0.9840	6	36	2.35	0.0515
	~ -							

\*Significance at  $P \le 0.05$ 

**Table 3-8.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type × crop system × sampling date main effects and interactions for Palmer amaranth biomass in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

		201	19			202	20	
Effect	Num	Den	F	Pr > F	Num	Den	F	Pr > F
	DF	DF	Value		DF	DF	Value	
Irrigation	1	4	0.38	0.5710	1	4	1.83	0.2473
Crop	2	8	50.99	<.0001	2	8	58.56	<.0001
Irrigation*Crop	2	8	0.31	0.7406	2	8	8.03	0.0122
Date	3	35	45.01	<.0001	3	36	34.64	<.0001
Date*Irrigation	3	35	2.54	0.0726	3	36	3.44	0.0269
Date*Crop	6	35	24.75	<.0001	6	36	24.55	<.0001
Date*Irrigation*Crop	6	35	1.10	0.3816	6	36	7.03	<.0001

\*Significance at  $P \le 0.05$ 

**Table 3-9.** Type III tests of fixed effects for irrigation type × crop system × sampling date main effects and interactions for Palmer amaranth total leaf area in 2019 and 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

		201	19			202	20	
Effect	Num	Den	F	Pr > F	Num	Den	F	Pr > F
	DF	DF	Value		DF	DF	Value	
Irrigation	1	4	0.98	0.3776	1	4	0.21	0.6741
Crop	2	8	1.73	0.2372	2	8	18.72	0.0010
Irrigation*Crop	2	8	0.99	0.4113	2	8	0.04	0.9568
Date	3	36	1.55	0.2184	3	36	8.25	0.0003
Date*Irrigation	3	36	1.03	0.3894	3	36	0.46	0.7116
Date*Crop	6	36	1.41	0.2384	6	36	6.00	0.0002
Date*Irrigation*Crop	6	36	1.02	0.4291	6	36	2.27	0.0589

\*Significance at  $P \le 0.05$ 



Figure 3-1. Daily rainfall in the (A) 2019 and (B) 2020 growing seasons at South Central

Agricultural Laboratory near Clay Center, NE



**Figure 3-2.** Average total soil water results of crop systems under (A) center-pivot and (B) subsurface drip in 2019 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.





**Figure 3-3.** Average total soil water results of crop systems under (A) center-pivot and (B) subsurface drip in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.



**Figure 3-4.** Actual evapotranspiration by crop system and irrigation type in (A) 2019 and (B) 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.



**Figure 3-5.** Least squares means plots of actual evapotranspiration by irrigation from day 1 to day 98 after sensor installation in 2019 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.





**Figure 3-6.** Cumulative evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow systems under center-pivot and subsurface drip irrigation in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.



**Figure 3-7.** Mean interaction plots for Palmer amaranth growth index by crop type and sampling date in (A) center-pivot plots in 2019, (B) subsurface drip plots in 2019, (C) center-pivot plots in 2020, and (D) subsurface drip plots in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.



**Figure 3-8.** Mean interaction plots for 2019 Palmer amaranth biomass by (A) sampling date and crop type and (B) sampling date and irrigation type in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.



**Figure 3-9.** Mean interaction plots for Palmer amaranth total leaf area by crop type and sampling date in (A) center-pivot plots in 2019, (B) subsurface drip plots in 2019, (C) center-pivot plots in 2020, and (D) subsurface drip plots in 2020 in a study to determine evapotranspiration of Palmer amaranth in corn, soybean, and fallow under subsurface drip and center-pivot irrigation systems at Clay Center, NE.

### CHAPTER 4:

# EFFECT OF DEGREE OF WATER STRESS ON GROWTH AND FECUNDITY OF VELVETLEAF (*ABUTILON THEOPHRASTI*) USING SOIL MOISTURE SENSORS

# Abstract

Velvetleaf (Abutilon theophrasti L.) is a troublesome broadleaf weed that competes with agronomic crops for resources such as soil moisture. Water stress can affect the ability of weed species to grow and produce seeds. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of degree of water stress on the growth and fecundity of velvetleaf using soil moisture sensors under greenhouse conditions. Velvetleaf seeds collected from a corn/soybean field were grown in silty clay loam soil and plants were maintained at 100%, 75%, 50%, and 25% soil field capacity (FC) corresponding to no-, light-, moderate-, and high-water stress conditions, respectively. Water was regularly added to pots based on soil moisture levels detected by a Decagon 5TM sensor to maintain the desired water stress level required by treatment. Plants maintained at 100% FC had the maximum number of leaves (28 leaves  $plant^{-1}$ ), followed by 21 and 15 leaves  $plant^{-1}$  at 75% and 50% FC, respectively. Velvetleaf at 100% and 75% FC achieved maximum plant height (108 to 123 cm) compared with 83 cm at 50% FC. Velvetleaf maintained at 75% FC had the greatest growth index (79,907 cm<sup>3</sup>) followed by 72,197 cm<sup>3</sup> at 100% FC and 64,256 cm<sup>3</sup> at 50% FC. Seed production was similar at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC (288 to 453 seeds  $plant^{-1}$ ) compared with 2 seeds  $plant^{-1}$  at 25% FC. This is because the majority of plants maintained at 25% FC did not survive more than 77 d after

transplanting. Seed germination was 96%–100% at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC compared to 20% germination at 25% FC. The results of this study demonstrate that velvetleaf can survive  $\geq$  50% FC continuous water stress conditions, although with a reduced leaf number, plant height, and growth index compared to 75% and 100% FC.

# Introduction

Throughout Nebraska's agricultural history, natural disasters such as drought have had an adverse effect on crop yields and the economy (USDA 2020; Wu et al. 2013). In the early mid-2000s and in 2012, Nebraska dealt with severe drought resulting in reduced crop yields (Wu et al. 2013). More recently, in August of 2020, Nebraska began experiencing drought conditions, and by October of 2020, 34 counties in Nebraska were eligible for emergency loans for drought relief (USDA 2020). Recognition of drought periods is important because weed species such as velvetleaf compete with crops for a variety of environmental resources, including water, which is one of the most limiting factors for optimum crop production (Benjamin and Nielsen 2006). Water stress can negatively affect the growth and productivity of crops and associated weed species, though the outcomes of competition for water depend on the crop and weed species' abilities to survive under water stress conditions (Begg and Turner 1976; Patterson 1995). Compared to C<sub>4</sub> weed species such as *Amaranthus palmeri* and *Portulaca oleracea* that have water stress resistance mechanisms (e.g., drought avoidance, drought tolerance, drought recovery, or drought escape),  $C_3$  weed species such as velvetleaf are not able to maintain the same level of growth and development under water stress conditions (Kumar et al. 1984; Pearcy and Ehleringer 1984; Sung and Krieg 1979; Ward et al. 2001). Hinz

and Owen (1994) found that velvetleaf under water stress conditions caused leaf water and osmotic potential to decrease linearly over time. Munger et al. (1987a; 1987b) indicated that as leaf water potential decreased in velvetleaf plants, stomatal conductance, photosynthetic, and transpiration rates decreased.

In addition to growth and development, seed germination is an important component of weed establishment and is influenced by environmental factors such as water availability, water temperature, light quality, and light duration during seed development (Baskin and Baskin 1998; Fenner 1991). Velvetleaf seed germination is sensitive to varying degrees of water stress and was completely inhibited by an osmotic potential of -600 kPa (Sadeghloo et al. 2013; Xiong et al. 2018). Despite these findings, scientific literature is not available on the effect that water stress throughout velvetleaf's growth period has on growth and fecundity. Bathke et al. (2014) projected a 5%-10% decrease in soil moisture for Nebraska under a high emissions scenario, indicating the potential for increased water stress and plant water competition in Nebraska plant populations. Despite projected increases in precipitation events in the eastern Great Plains, soil moisture is expected to decrease most near the soil surface due to evaporative loss from warmer temperatures (Bathke et al. 2014; Berg et al. 2016). While some plant developmental processes in leaves, roots, and reproductive structures are conserved across species, most plant responses are variable within and between species and are dependent on the developmental stage (Gray and Brady 2016).

Research evaluating a plant's response to water stress is typically performed under greenhouse or controlled environment conditions. The plants are often grown in pots to maintain certain water stress levels or soil field capacity (FC) for a limited growth

period or until the plant has reached maturity. A common method for maintaining desired FC in similar studies has been to weigh pots regularly to determine water lost from the soil and then add the appropriate amount of water (Chandi et al. 2013; Chauhan 2013; Chauhan and Johnson 2010; Earl 2003; Sarangi et al. 2015). However, it is not possible to determine the weight of the plant and pot separately using this method, resulting in inaccurate soil water content (Chahal et al. 2018). This could result in errors when adding water, especially as plants accumulate more biomass. Moreover, this approach is timeconsuming and labor intensive since the pots must be lifted and weighed at regular intervals until completion of the study. By incorporating soil moisture sensors such as Decagon 5TM sensors (Decagon Devices, 2365 NE Hopkins Court, Pullman, WA), the labor required to weigh and add water to pots can be reduced. The Decagon 5TM sensor is a frequency-domain reflectometry sensor that measures soil water content directly as percent volume, determining soil moisture stress in real time with increased accuracy (Chahal et al. 2018). Soil moisture sensors allow researchers to measure soil water content more frequently and maintain FC within a narrow, predetermined range (Irmak et al. 2016) in loam and silt-loam soils (Paudel et al. 2016; Zhu 2016). Thus, the objective of this study was to determine the effect of degree of water stress on growth and fecundity of velvetleaf using soil moisture sensors.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Plant Materials.** Velvetleaf seeds were collected from fields under corn-soybean rotation at the South Central Agricultural Laboratory in Clay County, Nebraska (40.57°N,

98.14°W). The seeds were stored in a refrigerator at 5°C until used in this study.

Velvetleaf seeds were planted in germination trays containing silty clay loam soil with a particle size distribution of 53% silt, 28% clay, 19% sand, and 2% organic matter content and a pH of 6.7. The soil used in this study was collected from a field near Lincoln, NE with no herbicide use in the last 10 yr. Germination trays were kept under greenhouse conditions at the University of Nebraska-Lincoln maintained at  $27/21^{\circ}$ C day/night temperatures. Overhead metal-halide lamps with 600 mmol photon m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> light intensity were used to provide supplemental light in the greenhouse to maintain a 16-h photoperiod. Velvetleaf seedlings 6 to 8 cm in height were transplanted into round, freedraining pots (20-cm diam and 30-cm ht) containing 10 kg of the same soil used in the germination trays, with one plant per pot. Pots were already at the desired moisture stress level of 100%, 75%, 50%, and 25% FC when velvetleaf seedlings were transplanted, minimizing the risk of transplant shock. Treatments were arranged in a completely randomized design with six replications.

**Soil Water Content.** The soil used in this study had a permanent wilting point and saturation point of 17.7% and 34.7% volumetric, respectively. The soil had a bulk density of 1.4 g cm<sup>-3</sup> and a volumetric FC of 39.2% based on soil test reports (American Agricultural Laboratory, Inc., McCook, NE). Gravimetric FC was 28% and was calculated using the following equation (Hillel 1998):

$$\theta g = \theta v / \rho_b$$

where  $\theta g$  is the percent gravimetric soil water content,  $\theta v$  is the percent volumetric soil water content, and  $\rho_b$  is the soil bulk density in grams per cubic cm.

The study included four soil water stress treatments: 100%, 75%, 50%, and 25% of the soil FC, corresponding to no-, light-, moderate-, and high-water stress levels, respectively (Chahal et al. 2018; Sarangi et al. 2015). Soil water content in the pots was measured using Decagon 5TM soil moisture sensors and Em50 data loggers (Figure 4-1). The sensors were installed at a 45° angle at a 15 cm depth in each pot. Because the soil had a gravimetric FC of 28%, 2.8 L of water (28% of 10 kg soil) was added to each pot at 12 and 4 d before transplanting in 2019 and 2020, respectively, to maintain 100% gravimetric FC. Likewise, 2.3 L (75% of 2.8 L), 1.6 L (50% of 2.8 L), and 0.9 L (25% of 2.8 L) of water were added to maintain 75%, 50%, and 25% soil FC, respectively, with a range of  $\pm 2\%$  actual volumetric water content set for water stress treatments. Soil moisture data from Decagon data loggers were recorded once a day, and the required amount of water was added evenly on top of the soil to maintain treatment soil FC. Data Collection. Velvetleaf height, number of leaves per plant, and growth index were determined at 7-d intervals beginning 7 d after transplanting (DAT) until plants were harvested upon maturity at 84 DAT during both years. Growth index can be defined as a quantitative indicator of plant growth rate used to compare plants grown under different soil water conditions and was calculated using the following equation (Irmak et al. 2004; Sarangi et al. 2015):

$$GI(cm^3) = \pi x (w/2)^2 x h$$

where w is the width of the plant calculated as an average of two widths, one measured at the widest point and another at 90° to the first; and h is the plant height measured from the soil surface to the shoot apical meristem (Sarangi et al. 2015). Upon maturity, leaves were counted and removed from each stem to measure the total leaf area for each plant using a leaf area meter (LI-3100C Area Meter, Li-Cor, Lincoln, NE).

During harvest, plant stems were clipped at the soil surface and roots were removed from the pots; stems and roots were washed with water in a container and airdried for 24 h. The leaves, shoots, and roots from each plant were stored separately in paper bags and oven-dried at 65°C for 7 d. Seed heads were collected and the number of seeds per plant counted; seeds were then weighed and stored in the dark at room temperature until used in germination tests. Seed dormancy was interrupted in velvetleaf seeds by soaking them in boiling water for five seconds (Sadeghloo et al. 2013). Fifty seeds from each plant were placed on a piece of moist Whatman No. 4 filter paper (GE Healthcare UK, Amersham Place, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire HP7 9NA, UK) in a petri dish. Petri dishes were stored for 21 d in a growth chamber maintained at 35/28°C day/night temperatures with a 16-h photoperiod, and an appropriate amount of water were added each day to keep the filter paper wet. Fluorescent bulbs were used to produce a light intensity of 85 mmol  $m^{-2}$  s<sup>-1</sup>. The total number of germinated seeds was counted and converted to percent germination based on the total seed number in each petri dish. Statistical Analysis. Three parameter log-logistic models were fit to velvetleaf height, leaf number per plant, and growth index using the drc package in R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) (Knezevic et al. 2007):

$$Y = \left\{ \frac{d}{1 + exp[b(logx - loge)]} \right\}$$

where Y is plant height, leaf number per plant, or growth index; x is days after transplanting; d is the estimated maximum plant height, leaf number per plant, or growth index; e is the time taken to achieve 50% of plant height, leaf number per plant, or growth index; and *b* represents the relative slope around the parameter *e*. A *t*-test was used to determine whether the water stress treatments significantly affected maximum estimates, rate of change, and time taken to achieve 50% of plant height, leaf number per plant, or growth index. Velvetleaf stem, leaf, and root biomass per plant (g), total leaf area per plant (cm<sup>2</sup>), seed number per plant, and percent seed germination were subjected to ANOVA and LSD tests using the agricolae and LSD procedures in R, respectively. Experimental year and replication were considered fixed effects to determine whether velvetleaf stem, leaf, aboveground and root biomasses, total leaf area, seed number, and percent seed germination were significant by year or replication, and whether there was a year by replication interaction. Velvetleaf stem, aboveground, and root biomass were significant by year, so ANOVA and LSD tests were performed for these parameters by year, while leaf biomass, total leaf area, seed number, and percent seed germination were significant area, seed number, and percent seed germination were significant by the approximation were grouped together by year. Where the ANOVA indicated treatment effects were significant, means were separated at  $P \le 0.05$ .

#### **Results and Discussion**

Leaf Number. Velvetleaf responded to increasing water stress by senescing the oldest leaves, resulting in a reduced number of leaves with increasing water stress level (Table 4-1). Similarly, Schmidt et al. (2011) reported senescence of older leaves in velvetleaf under drought conditions. Velvetleaf maintained at 100% FC had a maximum of 28 leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>, followed by 21 and 15 leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> at 75% and 50% FC, respectively (Table 4-1, Figure 4-2A). Chadha et al. (2019) reported similar results in prickly lettuce (*Lactuca serriola* L.), where leaf numbers were higher in 100% (52 leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>) and 75% FC (49 leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>) compared to 50% FC (41 leaves plant<sup>-1</sup>). In contrast, Mahajan et al. (2018) reported a similar leaf number plant<sup>-1</sup> in two African turnip weed (*Sisymbrium thellungii* O.E. Schulz) biotypes at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC. Kaur et al. (2016) also reported a similar number of leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> in giant ragweed (*Ambrosia trifida* L.) at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC. A significant reduction in leaf number in *Sisymbrium thellungii* (Mahajan et al. 2018) and *Ambrosia trifida* L. (Kaur et al. 2016) at 25% FC were reported, similar to the results of this study, where velvetleaf plants maintained at 25% FC had a maximum of 7 leaves plant<sup>-1</sup> before plant death (Figure 4-2A). The loglogistic model estimated that velvetleaf grown at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC took a similar amount of time [3.3 to 4.3 weeks after transplanting (WAT)] to achieve 50% of maximum leaf number. Similarly, there was no difference in the time it took for *Ambrosia trifida* L. to achieve 50% of maximum leaf number at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC (6 to 9 WAT) (Kaur et al. 2016).

**Plant Height.** Velvetleaf maintained at 100% and 75% FC achieved a height of 108 cm and 123 cm compared with a height of 83 cm at 50% FC (Table 4-1, Figure 4-2B). These results suggest that available soil moisture at  $\geq$  75% FC is sufficient to achieve maximum velvetleaf height and that a visible decrease in plant height at 50% FC could be a result of reduced cell enlargement due to low turgor pressure at 50% FC water stress level (Farooq et al. 2009; Jaleel et al. 2009). Similar results were reported by Chadha et al. (2019), in which *Lactuca serriola* had the greatest plant height at 75% FC (115 cm) and 100% FC (104 cm) compared with 77 cm at 50% FC. Kaur et al. (2016) also reported that *Ambrosia trifida* L. had the greatest plant height at 75% FC (140 cm) and 100% FC (125 cm) compared with 112 cm at 50% FC. In contrast, Mahajan et al. (2018) reported the greatest plant height at 50% FC (65 cm) compared to 75% FC (53 cm) and 100% FC (56 cm) of the St. George biotype of *Sisymbrium thellungii*. Karimi et al. (2015) reported the greatest plant height in sweetleaf (*Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni) at 90% FC, and decreased height with increasing water stress up to 45% FC. The model estimated that velvetleaf grown at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC took a similar amount of time (5.7 to 6.2 WAT) to achieve 50% of maximum plant height. Similarly, Kaur et al. (2016) reported that *Ambrosia trifida* L. grown at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC took 6 WAT to reach 50% of maximum plant height.

**Plant Growth Index.** Velvetleaf maintained at 75% FC had the greatest growth index (79,907 cm<sup>3</sup>) compared with a growth index of 72,197 cm<sup>3</sup> at 100% FC and 64,256 cm<sup>3</sup> at 50% FC (Table 4-1, Figure 4-2C). Results suggest that available soil moisture at 75% FC is sufficient for maximum growth of velvetleaf, and that available soil moisture at 100% FC might actually hinder plant growth due to root saturation (Ashraf 2012). Similarly, Kaur et al. (2016) reported that *Ambrosia trifida* L. maintained at 75% FC had the greatest growth index (588 cm<sup>3</sup>), followed by 416 cm<sup>3</sup> at 100% FC and 274 cm<sup>3</sup> at 50% FC. The time to achieve 50% of maximum growth index was similar across water stress levels (4.6 to 5.7 WAT) (Table 4-1). In contrast, Kaur et al. (2016) reported that the time for *Ambrosia trifida* L. to achieve 50% of maximum growth index was longer at 75% FC (6 WAT) compared to 100% and 50% FC (4 WAT).

Velvetleaf maintained at 25% FC did not survive more than 77 DAT during both years, although one plant produced a small number of seeds; therefore, root, leaf, and stem biomass, total leaf area, number of seeds per plant, and percent seed germination are presented (Table 4-2). The permanent wilting point of soil used in this study was 17.7%

by volume, corresponding to 45.2% FC. The soil water available to velvetleaf plants at 25% FC was below the permanent wilting point that resulted in plant death.

Plant Stem and Root Biomass. Year by treatment interactions were significant for stem and root biomass; therefore, data were separated (Table 4-2). Velvetleaf plants maintained at 75% FC were the tallest; however, they resulted in similar root, stem, or leaf biomass as 100% FC during both years. In 2019, stem biomass was similar (10–14 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC and root biomass was reduced at 100% FC (1.5 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) and 25% FC (0.08 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) compared with 2.4 to 3.4 g plant<sup>-1</sup> at 75% and 50% FC. Similarly, no differences were reported in Ambrosia trifida L. (Kaur et al. 2016) and Sisymbrium thellungii (Mahajan et al. 2018) stem biomass at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC. Other studies reported that velvetleaf (Vaughn et al. 2016) and Stevia rebaudiana (Karimi et al. 2015) aboveground biomass increased as water supply increased and was generally greatest at full transpiration and 90% FC, respectively. Studies also reported that velvetleaf (Vaughn et al. 2016) and Ambrosia trifida L. (Kaur et al. 2016) root biomass were greatest at full transpiration and 100% FC, respectively, but that was not the case in this study, as root biomass was reduced at 100% FC in 2019. Root biomass at 100% FC was likely reduced due to waterlogging of the soil, inhibiting root system elongation and potentially leading to adventitious root formation (Ashraf 2012; Steffens and Rasmussen 2016). In 2020, stem biomass (0.05 to 0.3 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) and root biomass  $(0.01 \text{ to } 0.07 \text{ g plant}^{-1})$  were reduced at 50% and 25% FC compared to stem biomass (1.2) to 1.3 g plant<sup>-1</sup>), and root biomass (0.16 to 0.17 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) at 100% and 75% FC. Chadha et al. (2019) reported similar results in which aboveground biomass of *Lactuca serriola* was greatest at 100% and 75% FC (19.4 to 22.4 g plant<sup>-1</sup>) compared to 50% and 25% FC

(17.2 to 17.5 g plant<sup>-1</sup>). On the contrary, Karkanis et al. (2011) reported no effect on root biomass due to water stress.

**Total Leaf Area.** The total leaf area per plant increased with increasing water stress, with the highest value at 50% FC (86.7 cm<sup>2</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) and the value reduced to 5.5 cm<sup>2</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup> at 25% FC (Table 4-2). However, total leaf area values were statistically similar (56 to 86.7 cm<sup>2</sup> plant<sup>-1</sup>) across 100%, 75%, and 50% FC. In contrast, Chadha et al. (2019) reported the greatest leaf area of *Lactuca serriola* at 75% FC, followed by 50%, 100%, and 25% FC. Vaughn et al. (2016) and Manivannan et al. (2007) reported reduced total leaf area with decreased water availability in velvetleaf and *Helianthus annus*.

**Seed Production.** Water stress influenced the number of velvetleaf seeds produced per plant. Velvetleaf at 75% FC produced the highest number of seeds (453 seeds plant<sup>-1</sup>), followed by 100% (406 seeds plant<sup>-1</sup>), 50% (288 seeds plant<sup>-1</sup>), and 25% FC (2 seeds plant<sup>-1</sup>) (Table 4-2). Results suggest that although velvetleaf plant growth may be reduced by 50% FC, a considerable number of seeds are still produced. Thus, early-season control of velvetleaf is crucial for avoiding a large infestation later in the growing season. Similarly, Kaur et al. (2016) reported that seed production of *Ambrosia trifida* L. was influenced by degree of water stress, with the highest number of seeds produced at 75% FC, followed by 100%, 50%, and 25% FC. In contrast, Chadha et al. (2019), Chahal et al. (2018), Mahajan et al. (2018), and Sarangi et al. (2015) reported decreased seed production with increased water stress in *Lactuca serriola, Sisymbrium thellungii*, waterhemp (*Amaranthus tuberculatus*), and Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri* S. Watson), respectively, indicating their sensitivity to water stress compared with velvetleaf.

**Seed Germination.** Velvetleaf seed germination was similar (96% to 100%) at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC compared with 20% germination at 25% FC. Similarly, Chahal et al. (2018) reported no difference in *Amaranthus palmeri* seed germination at 100%, 75%, and 50% FC, and no seeds were produced at 25% FC, signifying that *Amaranthus palmeri* seed production is more sensitive to water stress than velvetleaf. In contrast, Chadha et al. (2019) reported no difference in the germination ability of *Lactuca serriola* seeds produced under water stress conditions, demonstrating a higher tolerance to water stress compared to velvetleaf. These findings imply that velvetleaf can survive and produce viable offspring at water stress levels as low as 50% FC, prompting the need for early-season control.

# **Practical Implications**

This is the first study that evaluates the response of velvetleaf to the degree of water stress using soil moisture sensors that more frequently and accurately maintain a precise level of water stress throughout the growth period. Plant height and leaf number per plant were sensitive to water stress than total leaf area, stem, leaf, and root biomass, seed production, and seed germination. Seeds of velvetleaf used in this study were collected from a field under continuous corn-soybean rotation in Clay County, NE. The growth characteristics of velvetleaf observed in this study could vary if velvetleaf biotypes were collected from different cropping systems or rotations. Waselkov et al. (2020) found that agriculturally prevalent *Amaranthus tuberculatus* from the Mississippi Valley and Plains regions had higher relative performance than waterhemp from the Northeast region, where waterhemp is less of an agricultural weed. The results of this study could also vary under field conditions because velvetleaf plants were not able to

grow to their full potential due to limited pot size and pest infestation under greenhouse conditions. In 2020, stem and root biomass were significantly lower compared to 2019, likely due to white fly (*Aleyrodidae*) infestation. In addition, a single velvetleaf plant was grown in each pot without inter- or intra-specific competition; thus, plants growing with crops might produce flowers earlier or later in the growing season depending on the competitive nature of the crops, resulting in higher or lower seed formation. Water stress treatments were imposed throughout the growth period in this study, while duration of water stress can also play an important role in determining velvetleaf's growth response. Therefore, it is expected that velvetleaf grown under field conditions will have a better chance of survival and higher seed production due to possibly limited periods of water stress because of rain/irrigation compared with the continuous water stress conditions imposed in this study.

Water stress may also influence the duration of the critical weed-free period for various crops. Light to moderate water stress (75% to 50% FC) would not likely impact the critical weed-free period of velvetleaf in crops, although high water stress (25% FC) might reduce the critical weed-free period of velvetleaf compared with saturated conditions (Coble et al. 1981; Jackson et al. 1985). Velvetleaf is a temperate climate species and is typically absent from environments where dry climate and high evapotranspiration rates restrict growth. Munger et al. (1987a) and Vaughn et al. (2016) have shown that crops such as soybean and corn, respectively, have higher transpiration efficiency (TE) compared with velvetleaf under short-term water stress conditions. The higher TE of corn and soybean is likely due to earlier leaf senescence in velvetleaf during short-term water stress; however, the velvetleaf response to long-term water stress may

be advantageous, where early conservation of available soil moisture and early leaf senescence could result in maintaining enough water for transpiration later and potentially producing seeds (Schmidt et al. 2011). Hagood et al. (1980) reported a greater reduction in soybean growth due to velvetleaf competition during a dry year compared to a wet year, indicating potential competition for moisture between two species. The growth characteristics of velvetleaf at  $\leq$ 75% FC in this study could indicate its competitive ability under long-term water stress conditions. For these reasons, this information could be useful for evaluating weed-crop interaction using competition models, as well as for developing climate simulation models to understand the effect of drought, rising atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations, rising global temperatures, reductions in annual soil and groundwater recharge, and increasing frequency of extreme weather events on crop and weed species.

# **Literature Cited**

Ashraf MA (2012) Waterlogging stress in plants: A review. J Agric Res 7:1976–1981

- Baskin CC, Baskin JM (1998) Seeds: ecology, biogeography, and evolution of dormancy and germination. 1st edn. San Diego: Academic
- Bathke DJ, Oglesby RJ, Rowe CM, Wilhite DA (2014) Understanding and assessing climate change: Implications for Nebraska. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska-Lincoln
- Begg JE, Turner NC (1976) Crop water deficits. Adv Agron 28:161–217
- Benjamin JG, Nielsen DC (2006) Water deficit effects on root distribution of soybean, field pea and chickpea. Field Crops Res 97:248–253
- Berg A, Sheffield J, Milly PCD (2016) Divergent surface and total soil moisture projections under global warming. Geophys Res Lett 44:236–244
- Chadha A, Florentine SK, Chauhan BS, Long B, Jayasundera M (2019) Influence of soil moisture regimes on growth, photosynthetic capacity, leaf biochemistry and reproductive capabilities of the invasive agronomic weed; *Lactuca serriola*. PLoS ONE 14:e0218191
- Chahal PS, Irmak S, Jugulam M, Jhala AJ (2018) Evaluating effect of degree of water stress on growth and fecundity of Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) using soil moisture sensors. Weed Sci 66:738–745
- Chandi A, Jordan DL, York AC, Burton J, Milla-Lewis ST, Spears J, Whitaker JR, Wells R (2013) Response of herbicide-resistant Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*) accessions to drought stress. Int J Agron. 10.1155/2013/823913

- Chauhan BS (2013) Growth response of itchgrass (*Rottboellia cochinchinensis*) to water stress. Weed Sci 61:98–103
- Chauhan BS, Johnson DE (2010) Growth and reproduction of junglerice (*Echinochloa colona*) in response to water-stress. Weed Sci 58:132–135
- Coble HD, Williams FM, Ritter RL (1981) Common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisiifolia*) interference in soybeans (*Glycine max*). Weed Sci 29:339–342
- Earl HJ (2003) A precise gravimetric method for simulating drought stress in pot experiments. Crop Sci 43:1868–1873
- Farooq M, Wahid A, Kobayashi N, Fujita D, Basra SMA (2009) Plant drought stress:
  Effects, mechanisms, and management. Pages 153–188 *in* Lichtfouse E, Navarrete
  M, Debaeke P, Veronique S, Alberola C, eds. Sustainable Agriculture. Dordrecht:
  Springer Netherlands
- Fenner M (1991) The effects of the parent environment on seed germinability. Seed Sci Res 1:75–84
- Gray SB, Brady SM (2016) Plant developmental responses to climate change. Dev Biol 419:64–77
- Hagood ES Jr, Bauman TT, Williams TL Jr, Schreiber MM (1980) Growth analysis of soybean (*Glycine max*) in competition with velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*). Weed Sci 28:729–734

Hillel D (1998) Environmental Soil Physics. San Diego: Academic. 771 pp

Hinz JR, Owen MDK (1994) Effect of drought stress on velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) and bentazon efficacy. Weed Sci 42:76–81

- Irmak S, Haman DZ, Irmak A, Jones JW, Campbell KL, Crisman TL (2004) Measurement and analysis of growth and stress parameters of *Viburnum odoratissimum* (Ker-gawl) grown in a multi-plot box system. HortScience 39:1445– 1455
- Irmak S, Payero JO, VanDeWalle B, Rees J, Zoubek G, Martin DL, Kranz WL, Eisenhauer D, Leininger D (2016) Principles and operational characteristics of Watermark granular matrix sensor to measure soil water status and its practical applications for irrigation management in various soil textures. Lincoln, NE: Nebraska Extension Circular EC783. Accessed: October 8, 2020
- Jaleel CA, Manivannan P, Wahid A, Farooq M, Al-Juburi HJ, Somasundaram R, Panneerselvam R (2009) Drought stress in plants: A review on morphological characteristics and pigments composition. Int J Agric Biol 11:100–105
- Karkanis A, Bilalis D, Efthimiadou A (2011) Architectural plasticity, photosynthesis and growth response of velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti* Medicus) plants to water stress in a semi-arid environment. Aust J Crop Sci 5:369–374
- Kaur S, Aulakh J, Jhala AJ (2016) Growth and seed production of glyphosate-resistant giant ragweed (*Ambrosia trifida*) in response to water stress. Can J Plant Sci 96:828–836
- Knezevic SZ, Streibig JC, Ritz C (2007) Utilizing R software package for dose-response studies: the concept and data analysis. Weed Technol 21:840–848
- Kumar UD, Saraswathy R, Das VS (1984) Differential performance of *Cleome gynandra*L. (C<sub>4</sub>) and *C. speciosa* L. (C<sub>3</sub>) under water, stress and recovery. Environ Exp Bot
  24:305–310

- Mahajan G, George-Jaeggli B, Walsh M, Chauhan BS (2018) Effect of soil moisture regimes on growth and seed production of two Australian biotypes of *Sisymbrium thellungii* O. E. Schulz. Front Plant Sci 9:1241
- Manivannan P, Jaleel CA, Sankar B, Kishorekumar A, Somasundaram R, Lakshmanan GMA, Panneerselvam R (2007) Growth, biochemical modifications and proline metabolism in *Helianthus annus* L. as induced by drought stress. Colloid Surface B 59:141–149
- Munger PH, Chandler JM, Cothren JT (1987a) Effect of water stress on photosynthetic parameters of soybean (*Glycine max*) and velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*). Weed Sci 35:15–21
- Munger PH, Chandler, JM, Cothren JT, Hons FM (1987b) Soybean (*Glycine max*) and velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) interspecific competition. Weed Sci 35:647–653
- Patterson DT (1995) Effects of environmental stress on weed/crop interactions. Weed Sci 43:483–490
- Paudel R, Grantz DA, Vu HB, Shrestha A (2016) Tolerance of elevated ozone and water stress in a California population of Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*). Weed Sci 64:276–284
- Pearcy RW, Ehleringer J (1984) Comparative ecophysiology of C<sub>3</sub> and C<sub>4</sub> plants. Plant Cell Environ 7:1–13
- Sadeghloo A, Asghari J, Ghaderi-Far F (2013) Seed germination and seedling emergence of velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) and barnyardgrass (*Echinochloa crus-galli*).
  Planta Daninha 31: 259–266

- Sarangi D, Irmak S, Lindquist JL, Knezevic SZ, Jhala AJ (2015) Effect of water stress on the growth and fecundity of common waterhemp (*Amaranthus rudis*). Weed Sci 64:42–52
- Schmidt JJ, Blankenship EE, Lindquist JL (2011) Corn and velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) transpiration in response to drying soil. Weed Sci 59:50–54
- Steffens B, Rasmussen A (2016) The physiology of adventitious roots. American Society of Plant Biologists. 10.1104/pp.15.01360
- Sung FJM, Krieg DR (1979) Relative sensitivity of photosynthetic assimilation and translocation of <sup>14</sup>carbon to water stress. Plant Physiol 64:852–856
- [USDA] US Department of Agriculture (2020) USDA Designates Six Nebraska Counties as Primary Natural Disaster Areas. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture
- Vaughn LG, Bernards ML, Arkebauer TJ, Lindquist JL (2016) Corn and velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*) growth and transpiration efficiency under varying water supply. Weed Sci 64:596–604
- Ward JK, Tissue DT, Thomas RB, Strain BR (2001) Comparative responses of model C3 and C4 plants to drought in low and elevated CO<sub>2</sub>. Glob Change Biol 5:857–867
- Waselkov KE, Regenold ND, Lum RC, Olsen KM (2020) Agricultural adaptation in the native North American weed waterhemp, *Amaranthus tuberculatus* (Amaranthaceae). PLoS ONE 15:e0238861
- Wu D, Qu JJ, Hao X, Xiong J (2013) The 2012 agricultural drought assessment in Nebraska using MODIS satellite data. Pages 170–175 in Proceedings of the 2nd

International Conference on AgroGeoinformatics. Fairfax, VA: Center for Spatial Information Science and Systems

- Xiong RC, Ma Y, Wu HW, Jiang WL, Ma XY (2018) Effects of environmental factors on seed germination and emergence of velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*). Planta Daninha 36: 10.1590/s0100-83582018360100122
- Zhu Y (2016) Performance of frequency-domain and time-domain reflectometry soil moisture sensors in coarse- and fine-textured soils. MS dissertation. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska-Lincoln

**Table 4-1.** Parameter estimates and test of lack of fit at 95% level for the three-parameter log-logistic function<sup>a</sup> fit to velvetleaf leaves per plant, plant height, and growth index under differing degrees of water stress at 84 d after treatment (DAT) in a greenhouse study at University of Nebraska-Lincoln.

Water stress treatment <sup>b,c</sup>	$d \pm SE^{b,c,d}$	e (weeks) <sup>c,d</sup>	$b^{ m c,d}$	Lack of fit <sup>e</sup>
		Leaves p	lant <sup>-1</sup>	
100% FC (no water stress)	$28 \pm 7$ a	$4.3 \pm 1.3$ a	$-2.4 \pm 1.6$ a	1.0
75% FC (light water stress)	$21\pm1.4\ b$	$3.4\pm0.47~a$	$-4.9 \pm 2.5 a$	0.3
50% FC (moderate water stress)	$15 \pm 1.8$ c	$3.3\pm0.6\ a$	$-2.5 \pm 1.2$ a	0.4
		Plant heigh	nt (cm)	
100% FC (no water stress)	$108\pm10.7~a$	$5.7 \pm 0.4$ a	$-4.7 \pm 1.7$ a	0.9
75% FC (light water stress)	$123 \pm 12.3$ a	$6.0 \pm 0.4$ a	$-4.8 \pm 1.6$ a	0.9
50% FC (moderate water stress)	$83\pm11.6\ b$	$6.2\pm0.6$ a	$-4.8 \pm 2.1$ a	0.9
		Growth inde	$ex (cm^3)^f$	
100% FC (no water stress)	72,197 ± 8,310 b	$5.1 \pm 0.4$ ab	$-6.6 \pm 3.1$ a	0.9
75% FC (light water stress)	$79,907 \pm 7,072$ a	$4.6\pm0.3\ a$	$-10.1 \pm 5.6$ a	0.9
50% FC (moderate water stress)	$64,256 \pm 8,398$ c	$5.7\pm0.4$ ab	$-8.3 \pm 4.5 a$	1.0

<sup>a</sup> $Y = \{d/1 + \exp[b(\log x - \log e)]\}$ , where Y is the leaves per plant, plant height, or growth index; x is days after transplanting; d is the estimated maximum leaves per plant, plant height, or growth index; e is the time taken to achieve 50% of leaves per plant, plant height, or growth index; and b is the relative slope around parameter e.

<sup>b</sup>Abbreviation: FC, field capacity; SE, standard error.

<sup>c</sup>Only one velvetleaf plant maintained at 25% soil FC survived more than 77 DAT, and the three-parameter log-logistic model did not provide a good fit for leaves per plant, plant height, or growth index; therefore, data are not presented.

<sup>d</sup>Means within columns with no common letter(s) are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$ .

<sup>e</sup>A test of lack of fit at the 95% level was not significant for any of the curves tested for the water stress treatments, indicating that the fitted model was correct.

<sup>f</sup>Growth index =  $\pi * (w/2)^2 * h$ , where w is the width of the plant calculated as an average of two widths; and h is the plant height measured from the soil surface to the apical meristem.

Ê
AC
t (1
ueu
atn
tre
fter
d af
25
at
uo
lati
mi
ger
eq
se
and
'n,
Stio
pup
pro
edj
se
ass,
ÖÜÜ
biq
eaf
retl
velv
n u
ss o
stre
er s
vat
ofv
ee (
egr
fd
ct o
ffe
Щ
4-2
ole
Lat

in a greenhouse study at University of Nebraska-Lincoln using soil moisture sensors.

Water stress treatment <sup>a</sup>	Stem biomass	р.	Leaf	Abovegrou	nd	Root biom	assb	Total leaf	Seed number <sup>b</sup>	Seed
			biomass <sup>b</sup>	biomass <sup>b</sup>				area <sup>b</sup>		germination <sup>b</sup>
	2019	2020	2019-20	2019	2020	2019	2020	2019-2020	2019-2020	2020
				g plant <sup>_1</sup>				cm <sup>2</sup> plant <sup>-1</sup>	# plant <sup>-1</sup>	%
100% FC	10.1 a	1.3 a	0.51 a	10.3 a	2.2 a	1.5 bc	0.16 a	56 a	406 ab	98.8 a
(no water stress)										
75% FC	14 a	1.2 a	0.5 a	14.4 a	1.8 a	3.4 a	0.17 a	74.1 a	453 a	100 a
(light water stress)										
50% FC	10.2 a	0.3 b	0.44 ab	10.9 a	0.4 b	2.4 ab	0.07 b	86.7 a	288 b	96.7 a
(moderate water stress)										
25% FC	0.2 b	0.05 b	0.04 b	0.3 b	0.05 b	0.08 c	0.01 b	5.5 b	1.5 c	20 b
(high water stress)										

<sup>a</sup>Abbreviation: FC, field capacity. <sup>b</sup>Means within columns with no common letter(s) are significantly different at  $P \le 0.05$ .



**Figure 4-1.** Soil moisture content in pots was measured using (A) Decagon 5TM moisture sensors and (B) Em50 data loggers to determine degree of water stress on velvetleaf in a greenhouse study conducted at the University of Nebraska–Lincoln.


**Figure 4-2.** Effect of degree of water stress on (A) leaves per plant, (B) plant height, and (C) growth index of velvetleaf after 84 DAT during both years. 100%, 75%, 50%, and 25% field capacity (FC) treatments correspond to no-, light-, moderate-, and high-water stress, respectively. Only one velvetleaf plant maintained at 25% FC survived more than 77 DAT during both years, and the three-parameter log-logistic model did not provide a good fit for leaves per plant, plant height, or growth index; therefore, curves are presented for 25% FC, although only for visual sake.